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PREFACE

This‘study has grown out of the interest of the author and wishes
of the people of Canadian to have a history of their town written by the
Bi-Centennial year.  The investigation for this work began in 1972 when
the author discovered his home town of Canadian was soon to be 100 years
old and began organizing a centennial celebration to take place May 29,
1973. Since that time the author has been encouraged by the citizens
and City Council of Canadian to produce a history of Canadian.

The town of Canadian is located in northern Pittsburg County, along
U. S. Highway 69, eighteen miles north of McAlester. The population of
Canadian is approximately 300 at this present time. Arrowhead State
Lodge is located only five miles from Canadian and the shore of Lake
Eufaula comes to within oﬁe'mile of the town's city limits.

The author wishes to express his appreciation to his major adviser,
Dr. Norbert R. Mahnken for his assistance in the completion of this
study. - Appreciation is also expressed to the other members of the com-
mittee, Dr. Neil A. Hackett and Dr. Odie B. Faulk.

Special thanks is given to-Mary Wells of the Oklahoma State His-
torical Society, Newspaper Division, and the staff librarians of the
Oklahoma State University Library.” Also thanks Is given to Walter
Salmon, Orlean Smith, and Ada Baker of Canadian, Oklahoma, for their in-
valuable assistance in the recalling of Canadian's history. In addition,
appreciation is-expressed to Mrs. Estelle George and Mr. and Mrs. Gene

McNally of Canadian for their special help and encouragement in this
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project.

Finally, special gratitude is expressed to the people of Canadian
for their assistance and cooperation, tc the author's parents, David M.
and Dortha M. Duke, and to my wife, Patty, and our son, Brent, for the

many sacrifices they have made.
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CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

The town of Canadian derives its name from the Canadian River but
from what source the Canadian River derives its name is open to debate.
One possible explanation seeks to relate the name to Spanish sources.
The Canadian River has its headwaters in the mountains of New Mexico,
which were Spanish. ' Some authors believe the river derives its name
from corruption of the Spanish, Rio Canada or Rio Canadiano. The word
Canadiano does not appear in Spanish dictionaries and Canada means a
small or narrow gorge, or a sheep path in a steep place. The people of
New Mexico have always called the river the Rio Colorado or "Red River"
in their country. On the other hand an official Mexican map of the New
Mexico country, published prior to the Mexican War, refers to the river
as the Rio Canadiano. This may merely have been the Spanish corruption
of the English Canadian River, but does make a clear case for the pos-
sible Spanish origin of the'name.l

Other authors believe that the Canadian moét likely derives its
name from French sources. During the regions period of occupancy by the
French, trappers and traders out of New Orleans traveled up the Mis-
sissippi and Arkansas Rivers and from there ranged up and down the North
Canadian and main Canadian Rivers. ~Many of these men were of Canadian
origin, hence these streams might have been labelled the '"rivers of the

Canadians". Many other landmarks and rivers in Eastern Oklahoma carry



names of French origin; The Verdigris, Illinois, Poteau, and Fourche
Maline Rivers, and San Bois Mountains, to name only a few.

The history of Canadian cannot include just the town-site and its
people. Being a rural community its influeﬁce and related area ex-
tends for several miles to the east, north, and west. The Canadian
area is bounded on these three sides by Gaines Creek and the Canadian
River. This is an area which at one time contained the best farmland
of the région{ "It is this geographical and economic' region with which
this paper will deal. 'ThiSjarea‘hés a long and diverse background and
historical sighificance, figuring from the earliest explorations to the
arrival and development of the area by the Choctaws, and the wagon roads:
and trails opened through it by settlers; from the ravages of the Civil
War to the building of the ' railroad through Indian Territory, and ul-
timately the formal establishment of the town of: South Canadian in 1873.

After the founding of the town the significance of the area shifts
to Canadian's first citizens and its early day experiences. The town
experienced slow but steady progress from its beginning in 1873 culmi-
nating to a beginning decline in' 1913. :During'thiS'time Canadian rose
to be the busiest shipping point on the Missouri, Kansas, and Texas
Railroad between Kansas and Texas. Its gradual decline followiné this

era will also be investigated.



FOOTNOTES

lElliott Coues, The Expeditions of Zebulon Montgomery Pike, Vol. 1,
(New York, 1895), p. 558; Reuben Gold Thwaites, ed., Early Western
Travels, 1748-1846, Vol. XVI (Cleveland, 1905), pp. 105-106; Ralph
Emerson Twitchell, The Leading Facts of New Mexican History, Vol. II

(Cedar Rapids, 1912), p. 84.




CHAPTER II
EARLTEST EXPLORATIONS NEAR THE CANADIAN AREA

Bernard de la Harpe, a Frenchman from Louisiana, was the first white
explorer known to have penetrated the lower Canadian River Valley in
which Canadian lies. In December, 1718, La Harpe received a grant of
land on the Red River in the present state of Arkansas and there es-
tablished a‘'trading post and foft. The Council of Louisiana had made La
Harpe a commandant and had given him instructions to explore the region
northwest of his fort, to make alliances with the Indians of that region,
and to do everything possible to establish trade with the Spanish in
Texas and New Mexico.

In June of 1719 La Harpe was ready to begin exploring and sent out
one of his officers to scout aheéd. On August 1, as La Harpe made ready
to leave, the officer returned with news of war between France and
Spain. Taking this news in stride, La Harpe decided to explore north of
the Red River, the Spanish boundary, and make commercial treaties with
the Indians, thereby strengthening the French position. On August 11,

La Harpe set out. His party was made up of the commandant himself and
two other '"gentlemen', one officer, two enlisted men, two Negro slaves,
twenty-two horses, and two of La Harpe's dogs. On August 25, La Harpe's
journal tells of entering some small prairies and valleys very pleasing
to the sight. The party killed three buffalo that day and made camp

approximately three and a half miles east of the present town of



Hartshorne, in Pittsburg County. On August 29, 1719, marching up from
the southeast, La Harpe arrived at the confluence of Gaines Creek and
the Canadian River. ' At this point La Harpe mentions in his' report one
of the only unbelievable events of his journmey. In his journal he re-
cords the day thus:

The twenty-ninth, we advanced three leagues to North and

Northeast, a difficult enough woods and many little rocky

mountains. "We entered afterwards the prairies next in a

very thick woods, in which our guides lost us. After a

thousand impediments we found ourselves on the bank of

the"west branch of the river of the Ouachitas. . . At

two o'clock in the afternoon we joined the Naouydiches

party. They were busy smoking some unicorn. It is an

animal big as a middle sized horse; he has hair of reddish

colour and the length of that of a she-goat, the legs

rather thin and in the middle of the forehead a horn,

without branches, of a half a foot long; the meat of it

is very delicious. This discovery confirms that which

M. de Bienville had been told of the savages that in

the upper headwaters of the Ouachitas River there were

some unicorn.

The French had not named the Canadian Rivers at this time and La
Harpe was mistaken about the river at which he had arrived. Though La
Harpe makes no mention of Gaines Creek, it is evident he had been follow-
ing it north for about three days prior to the 29th of August. The
Indians he had come upon were probably Caddos, then native to the re-
gion. So La Harpe became the first known explorer of the immediate re-
gion or the lower Canadian River Valley. He had passed and camped with-
in three miles of the future site of Canadian. After proceeding as far
north as the present town of Haskell near the Arkansas, La Harpe and his
men took the river back into Arkansas. In 1722 La Harpe returned to
north of his first camp near Canadian to the confluence of the North
Canadian with the main Canadian River. He was ascertaining if the river

could carry trade toward Santa Fe. He believed it could during high

water. On returning to his post, La Harpe sent reports to the governor
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in New Orleans strongly recommending the establishment of forts and posts
at the mouth of the Canadian and near Standing Rock in the North' Canadian.
Because of economic hardships in Louisiana at this time his plan could
not be carried out. However, the second La Harpe expedition did directly
influence the sending of another party to the area in 1741.

In 1739 two French explorers and traders, Pierre and Paul Mallet,
passed by the Gaines Creek—Canadianvarea on their return from Santa Fe
to Louisiana by way of the Canadian and Arkansas Rivers. French interest
in Santa Fe as a trading center was ever increasing and by 1741 Governor
Bienville, of the Louisiana Province, sent Fabray de le Brugere from New
Orleans to find, if possible, a more direct and better route to Santa
Fe. He was to secure alliances with the Indians he might encounter, de-
termine the nature and extent of the "mysterious western regions", and
satisfy lingering doubt as to whether they were contiguous to the Pacific.
He was guided on this journey by the Mallet brothers and was accompanied
by a few soldiers and Canadians. This party also passed the mouth of
Gaines Creek. As they ascended the '"south fork of the Arkansas', Brugere
gave it the name "St. Andre". That name did not survive and the Canadian
River had not yet received its name. The party '"became entangled in the
shallows and quicksands of that difficult river, Fabray fell into dis-
putes with his men and after protracted efforts the expedition returned
unsuccessful."2

As Baugere's expedition to Saﬁta Fe had been unsuccessful, so had
the French colonization effort in most of North America. In 1762 while
at war with Great Britain and fearing that her enemy might take the
Louisiana Province, the French ceded the territory to their allied coun-

try, Spain.



Though good Spanish control over the Louisiana Territory was es-
tablished, few explorations were made into the newly acquired Province.
The Spanish limited their activity to Texas and settlements along the
Mississippi River. But the Spanish would not control the region very
long for in 1800, France, now under the control of Napoleon, asked for
and‘received the Province back. At first Napoleon attempted to re-
establish strong French control, but troops sent to New Orleans were
killed in the Caribbean Islands by Yellow Fever. Still at war and in
hard need of funds, Napoleon decided to sell the territory to the United
States. Initially in 1802, President Thomas Jefferson had sent Robert
Livingston, of the State Department, to Paris with an offer to buy the
city of New Orleans for two million dollars. Napoleon proposed selling
all of the Province. By the spring of 1803, the treaty had been ham-
mered out, and the United States had purchased the whole Louisiana Ter-
ritory for fifteen million dollars.3

The area of ‘which Canadian would be a part was now American soil.
Its usage and value would be tested and debated much over the next one
and three quarter centuries. The first known American citizen to tread
‘through the Canadian River Valley came in 1819. Secretary of War John
C. Calhoun ordered Major Stephen Harriman Long, of the Army Topographical
Engineers, to explore the headwaters of the Arkansas and Red Rivers in
the newly ‘acquired Louisiana Purchase and to descend the latter river.

After they had traveled up the Arkansas, into present day Colorado,
Major Long's party marched 150 miles south to what they believed was a
‘tributary ‘of the Red River and began following it. On the way, they made
careful scientific studies and reports on the flora, fauna, and geology

of the country. They continued down the river to its confluence with the



Arkansas before discovering it was the Canadian River and, not the Red,
they had explored.

On ‘September 6, 1820, the party passed some very small rapids; Major
Long called them the '"Falls of the Canadian, rather for the sake of a
name than as considering it worthy to be thus designated. One mile be-
low this point is the entrance, from the south of a river fifty yards
wide. 1Its banks are lined with tall forests of cottonwood and sycamore,
and its bottoms are wide and fertile."4 That night the party made camp
just below the mouth of the North Canadian near Standing Rock. Members
of the party were amazed at its oddity and at its perpendicular sides.
The rapids mentioned by Long were located about 200 yards above the
present U. S. Highway 69 crossing the Canadian River. The river from
the south lined with cottonwood and sycamore was Gaines Creek.

It was on the day he passed Gaines Creek that Major Long made a
most significant "entry into his daily log, recording his generally un-
favorable impressions of the region. This report, along with that of
“Zebulon Montgomery Pike, who had explored the region to the north, was
to influence the course of American expansion and history. Long's re-
port-stated,

We have little apprehension of giving too unfavorable

an account of this portion of the country. Though the

soil is in some places fertile, the want of timber,

of navigable streams, and of water for the necessities

of life, render it an unfit residence for any but a

nomad population. The-:traveller who shall at any time

have traversed its desolate sands, will, we think,

~ join us in the wish .that this region may for ever re-

main the unmolested haunt of the native hunter, the

bison, and the jackall.?

Long's expedition was of great importance since it was the first

reliable scientific and mapping expedition to pass through the Canadian

‘River Valley. His maps and observations influenced not only the
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Canadian area but all of the newly acquired Louisiana Purchase. Long's
comments and observations with those of Pike led directly to the idea of
a "Great American Desert" extending to the north and west of this re-
gion. This idea would later influence the Federal government's search
for a counfry into which to remove the Eastern Indians.

In the year 1830, the Federal government and the War Department were
busy making arrangements for the removal of all the Indians east of the
Mississippi River. As soon as the Indian Removal Act was signed by
President Andrew Jackson, the War Department began exerting itself to
secure more exact information about the western regions. Captain Benja-
min Louis Eulalieda Bonneville, who was stationed at Fort Gibson, was
dispatched to reconnoiter the region of southern Oklahoma which the
Choctaw Indians of Mississippi were to settle. Captain Bonneville would

later achieve fame in Washington Irving's book, The Adventures of Cap-

tain Bonneville.

In September, 1830, Bonneville was ordered to explore the Canadian
River area as far as the Cross Timbers, which would have been in present
Seminole County. Proceeding from Standing Rock, which he called "Mary's
Rock'", Bonneville described the Gaines Creek-Canadian area,

I continued ascending the Canadian 12 3/4 miles West from
the same line (and) came to the Mouth of Macomb River

[ Gaines Creek] or the south fork of Canadian River. It
rises in the mountains to the So. West and running North
and east to the Canadian. It is about 160 yards wide at
its mouth.

His general observations of the Canadian Valley were:

The banks of the Canadian are low from 3 to 6 feet high,
sand hills frequently make to the River on both banks.
The bottoms are small, being generally sand beds covered
with 5 or 6 inches of allievial soil: there is but
little timber in them. I saw no place where I believed
a settlement could be made to advantage. . . I saw but
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little game, about 15 deer, 20 buffalo, 2 bears, and one

gang of elk. The fact is the whole country is nothing

but:a barren waste, having no cultivable land, no game

no timber.6

Up to this time the Canadian River region had received no favor-
able reports for settlement possibilities. ' On the contrary, it was
called unsuitable for human settlement. ' Though the region was unfit for
white settlement, the government apparently believed it was just right
for the Indian. In the removal treaties of the 1820s and '30s, the
various tribes to be moved to this area were told of a rich and bounti-
ful land. But in fact, on maps of the period, the Canadian River and

Gaines Creek were beginning to be the southern and eastern boundaries of

the "Great American Desert".



FOOTNOTES

lPierre Margry, Decouvertes et Establessment de Francais dans
1'Quest et dans le Sud de 1'Amerique (Paris, 1889), pp. 286-287.

2Francis Parkman, A Half Century of Conflict: France and England in
North America, 2 vols. (Boston, 1927), 1:367-368.

3Odie B. Faulk and Joseph A. Stout, Jr., A Short History of the
American West (New York, 1974), pp. 66-76.

4'I.‘hwaites, p. 174.

dIbid.

6Grant Foreman, "An Unpublished Report of Captain Bonmneville with
Introduction and Footnotes,'" Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. 10, No. 3
(1932), pp. 329-330.
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CHAPTER TII
THE COUNTRY BECOMES CHOCTAW

Though early explorers might have filed unfavorable reports on the
area, settlers began to move into the new frontier. Since before
Louisiana had become a territory of the United States, Americans had
poured across the Mississippi River into what is now Missouri and Ar-
kansas. After the war with England had ended in 1815, even more pio-
neers flowed in the new territory, many settled near the '"Three Forks"
trading post, in the soon to be Indian Territory. In April of 1824,
Fort Gibson had been established near the '"Forks' as the western-most
outpost of the United States and from it numerous parties and expedi-
tions roamed across what is now Oklahoma.

There was other activity in this area also, Indian activity. When
l.a Harpe had come to this area he reported numerous tribes of Indians.
Some six miles south of Canadian he had passed a party of sixty Comanches
encamped on the west side of Reams Flat., Pawnees, Caddos, Choctaws, and
the Waring Osage were but a few of the tribes that roamed and hunted
along the Canadian River and Gaines Creek, Many small tribes La Harpe
had noted were now extinct or departed. Many had been driven south by
the fierce Osage. Though virtually no Indians resided in this area in
1815, many tribes located east of the Mississippi had used this region
for hunting grounds and a few eastern Indians, Choctaws among them, had

voluntarily moved east of the Mississippi.

13
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The Louisiana Purchase had opened the way for whites of the East to
rid themselves of their "brother the Indian', both savage and civilized.
Soon after the War of 1812 had ended, treaties with the southern Indians
began offering vast lands west of the Mississippi in exchange for small
portions given up in the‘Gulf Coast States.

By the Treaty of Doak's Stand, signed October 18, 1820, the Choctaws
of Mississippi agreed to relinquish the southern portion of their country
to the Federal government in exchange for a wilderness tract west of the
Mississippi River. This treaty was not to affect all Choctaws but sought
rather, according to the preamble, " . . . to perpetuate [the ChoctaWs]
as a nation, by exchanging, for a small portion of their land here, a
country beyond the Mississippi River, where all, who live by hunting and
will not work, may be collected and settled togethero”1

Their new land was located between the Arkansas, Canadian, and Red
Rivers, beginning immediately west of the Mississippi, and was to run as
far west as the headwaters of the Red and Canadian Rivers, and here prob-
lems arose instantly. The headwaters of these two rivers did not lie
inside United States territory. More importantly, it was soon pointed
out that much of the land immediately west of the Mississippi was al-
ready substantially inhabited by whites. In fact this area was so popu-
lated that by 1836 it was able to join the Union as the State of Ar-
kansas.

The Federal government, seeing the impossibility of moving out all
the white families and their settlements, decided to induce the Choctaws
to give up a large and fertile block of land immediately west of the
Mississippi by a new treaty adopted in 1825.

Since Arkansas had received territorial status her western border
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had been located about nine miles east of the confluence of the two
Canadian Riveré. In May, 1824, after an official survey this had been
made the official boundary. As a concession in the Treaty of 1825, the
boundary was pushed back eastward about seventy miles,

In 1824 several of the Choctaw chiefs were invited to Washington
to negotiate a correcting treaty. By that treaty, adopted in 1825, the
Choctaws ceded back to the Unitea States that land east of the present
Oklahoma-Arkansas border. Two of the chiefs who journeyed to Washington
died mysteriously by separate incidents, raising forever.doubts as to
how the treaty was secured. One of the chiefs, Apuckshunnubbee, was
killed in Kentucky while at an overnight stop. On Christmas Eve at the
Tennison Hotel in '"Washington City" the great chief Pushmataha died.

The cause of his death might be found in the expense account of the
Choctaw delegation. Hotel bar bill - $2,149,50. Meals and lodging =~
$2,029.50, Oysters and liquor - $349.75. Clothing, a suit each -
$1,134,73, These two chiefs were replaced by younger, less experienced
ones,

Even though the new treaty had settled the boundary disputes, only
150-200 Choctaws had settled in the new land by 1829, For the whites of
Mississippi and the Federal government removal was proceeding too slowly.
On October 17, 1827, the head of the Indian Department, Thomas Loraine
McKenney, visited with the Chiefs of the Choctaws to urge them to move
west. At first the Choctaws refused to negotiate but then agreed to send
a deiegation of six with a Chickasaw party to explore this western
""Indian Territory". Congress appropriated $15,000 for their expenses
and appointed a Baptist missionary, Reverend Issac McCoy, to conduct the

party which was to begin its examination from St. Louis.
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Exactly one year from their meeting with McKenney the party set
out, first into Kansas then down the Verdigris River into Indian Ter-
ritory. On November 26, they made camp near Fort Gibson until December
2nd for a '"big council" meeting. On December 4, the party crossed the
"North Fork" of the Canadian River. Reverend McCoy, as the fiscal agent
of the party kept a daily log, and an interesting note is made for De-
cember 5th and 6th,

We were now in buffalo country, though but a short distance

south of Fort Gibson. On the 5th of December, four of our

Indians became separated from us, as they were in pursuit

of buffalo, the last of whom did not reach our camp until

after dark, when he was conducted to us by a Cherokee, on

whose camp he had by chance fallen. On the following day,

two buffalo were taken by some of the party at camp on the

south of the Arkansas, and near the junction of that river

and Canadian river, December 7th, our explorations termi-

nated,?

If the party followed the Canadian down to the Arkansas then camp
the night of the 5th was probably made near the Gaines Creek-Canadian
confluence. Knowing the Choctaws held the lands south of the Canadian,
the party probably traveled along a trail on the south side of the river,
what is now roughly Oklahoma Highway 9. The two buffalo were probably
killed just a few miles east of Gaines Creek.

Congress now began moving at an even faster rate to remove the
Indians. Andrew Jackson, elected as President in 1828, had pledged in
his inaugural address to make every effort to remove all Indians from the
East and the Indian Removal Act of May 28, 1830, authorized the President
to set aside for the American Indian,

Any territory belonging to the United States, west of the

river Mississippi, not included in any state, or organized

territory, and to which the Indian title has been extin=-

guished, . . . to be divided into a suitable number of Dis-

tricts, for the reception of such tribes or nations of

Indians as may choose to exchange the lands where they now
reside, and remove there.
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On September 27, 1830, agents of the Federal government succeeded
in negotiating a new treaty with the Choctaws, this time at Dancing
Rabbit Creek. This treaty guaranteed the westward removal of the Choc-
taw Indians. The Nation was to receive a tract of country west of the
Mississippi River, beginning near Fort Smith where the Arkansas boundary
crésses the Arkansas‘River,

running thence to the source of the Canadian; if in the

limits of the United States; thence due south to Red

River, and down (it) to the west boundary of the Terri-

tory of Arkansas; thence north along that line to the

beginning . . o

As soon as the Treaty of Dancing Rabbit Creek had been signed the
Choctaw chiefs again asked to see this new land. In December of 1830 a
delegation of Choctaws and Chickasaws arrived at the mouth of the Ca-
nadian River. The delegation was headed by George S. Gaines, a trusted
trader and friend of the Choctawéo Once the tribe had settled in this
region they named Gaines Creek in his honor. When the party reached the
Canadian, Gaines sent to Fort Gibson a request for an escort into the
"wild interior' of what was to be the new Choctaw Nation. Brigadier
General Matthew Arbuckle quickly responded and sent twelve mounted
troopers under the command of Lieutenant James Lowes Dawson. Not waiting
for the escort Gaines and the Choctaws proceeded up the Canadian. After
passing the mouth of Gaines Creek the party turned to the southwest and
traveled down the Lewallen Bottoms just west of the future site of Ca-
nadian. This exploring party was following a zig-zag course between the
south bank of the river and the interior. Dawson and his men arrived
three days later and set out cross-country to intercept the Choctaws,.
His description of the country and the conditions of the march give good

insight into the hardships so often suffered on such expeditions.
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After a march of ten or twelve miles through poor mountain

land we descended into the valley of a stout sized creek

running n. and emptying into the Canadian. The bottoms of

this creek are fertile and adjoin some rich well-timbered

upland.8
This creek was probably Gaines Creek. Continuing his march up river ''to
a point thirty or forty miles above the Fork', he encountered a party of
three Delaware Indians and from them learned that the whole country bor-
dered on the river was burnt and that he could not subsist his horses.
This burned country was the area bounded by Gaines Creek, Coal Creek,
and the Canadian River.

One log entry of Dawson's report is extremely descriptive of a bad
winter's day march in Indian Territory. Dawson writes,

We crossed a branch of the South Fork of the Canadian.

[Gaines Creek] This day was the most intensely cold

that I ever experienced. The weather was so extremely

severe that the party was obliged to halt once or twice

during the day and kindle a fire to prevent them from

becoming frost bitten; we found some shelter from the

inclemency of the weather and where our good fortune

supplied our horses with a small quality of acorns

which had escaped the ravages of the hunters fire.

The ice formed during the preceding night was so thick

that we had to cut a passage for a ford with axes. It

was sufficiently strong to bear the horses but we could

not forse them to cross until a clear passage had been

opened,

After the completion of this tour the Choctaws and Gaines returned
to Mississippi to begin the removal. The tribe was to be removed during
the fall of three years, 1831, 1832, and 1833. Originally the Choctaws
were to be removed from east of the Mississippi by steamboat but because
of expense and difficulty removal took place by wagon and on foot. Be-
cause of the haste and expense involved they were forced to leave their
cattle and other livestock. Most were ruined financially by this move

and were never compensated for these losses,

One of the major routes of entry into this country was past Fort
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Smith, up the Arkansas, then the Canadian. When they reached the South
Fork [Gaines Creek] the immigrants turned south and settled in the river
and creek bottoms from this point to the Boggy. Undoubtedly some Choc-
taws settled in the bottom land just west of Canadian around this time
and it was not long before families had established a settlement along
Gaines Creek east of Canadian by the '"old Gaines Creek Road'.

An archeological survey of the Canadian and Gaines Creek area in
1950 revealed that a permanent village had been established on the east
bank of the creek a little after 1850. A Christian Indian cemetry was
established two miles up a small stream directly acrﬁss the creek. Un-
til about 1962 sea shells could still be seen marking graves there. A
rock overhang across the creek from the village still harbors a few sea
shells and one Indian grave has been found approximately twenty feet
from this site.

Along with the Choctaw, white settlement also proceeded in the area.
North Fork Town near the mouth of the North Canadian had long been set=
tled by whites and people of mixed blood and the country also proved a
secure haven for outlaws from Missouri, Texas, and Arkansas. Choctaw
citizenship was easy to gain either by marriage or by the payment of an
annual fee which enabled one toibe employed in the Nation for a period
of one year at a time., Slowly but with gaining momentum, the Choctaws
lands began passing into the hands of others. In the immediate region,
mixednblood dominated North Fork Town held top influence and controlled
the tfade of the area. Most of the white settlérs came from Arkansas
but Texans and Missourians were also common to the area. Inter-marriage
with the Indians was very common. As a result of Choctaw slave holdings,

there were many Negroes in the area also.
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In 1832 the Chickasaws had ceded their land east of the Mississippi
to. the Federal government. The Chickasaws were relatives of the Choc-
taws and the two had been neighbors in Mississippi. Even before the
Choctaws had finiéhed their migration, the Federal government approached
them concerning the ceding, or lgasing, of a portion of their new land
to the Chickasaws. Seeing the ineviatability of their circumstances, in
late 1836 the Choctaws agreed to negotiate. The result was the Treaty
of Doaksville, struck January 17, 1837, Under its provisions the Chick-
asaws were to have the "privilege' of a district within the limits of
the Choctaw country, to equal representation in the Choctaw General
Council; and the Chickasaw people were to be entitled to all rights and
privileges of the Choctaws, with the exception of receiving monies from
the Choctaw annuities. The two tribes could settle in each others' dis-
tricts. The boundaries of the district were within the southern and
western portion of the Choctaw Nation. The "south fork of the Canadian"
formed a part of that boundaryo11

Like the Choctaws, the Chickasaws suffered much on their own trail
of tears. In the new land, they were outvoted in the council government
and treated as seconds by their.old neighbors in this new territory,

For many years trouble brewed and only compromises held the Nations to-
gether . Finally in 1855, the major problems were to be resolved with
the Chickasaws and Choctaws. in treaty with the United States agreeding
to the separation of the Nations.12

While the Chickasaws had been moving in and the Indian Territory
had been expanded from the border with Canada to the Red River, new and
exciting activity had been taking place across the American Nation. It

began slowly with a few Americans carrying trade to the Mexicans in
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Santa Fe. The 1840s and '50s would prove to be very busy years around
the Gaines Creek-Canadian region; many now famous people would eventually

pass this site.
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CHAPTER 1V
THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ROADS AND TRAILS

Soon after Mexico had declared its independence of Spain in 1810,
Santa Fe was thrown open to trade with the Americans. A road was quickly
established from Independence, Missouri, to the Mexican territorial cap-
itol of Santa Fe. By 1835, after settlements had grown up in the Indian
Territory near the Canadian River, trade began to move west out of Belle
Point (Fort Smith) toward Santa Fe along the Canadian River. The earli-
est established route ran on the north side of the river so travelers
could stop at recently established North Fork Town. With its trading
houses, stores, and blacksmiths, it offered the last touch of civiliza-
tion until one reached Santa Fe. Other roads, however, were soon brought
into use. One followed the south side of the Canadian, then dipped
southwest between Longtown Creek and Gaines Creek toward Boggy Depot,
then continued west,

In 1839, Josiah and John Gregg, Santa Fe traders, left Van Buren,
Arkansas, bound for Santa Fe. The route they took up Fhe Canadian was

new and in a book published in 1844 titled Commerce of the Prairies,

Josiah Gregg was able to give much insight to life in this region, its
geography, wildlife, and its possibilities. This round trip from Ar-
kansas to Santa Fe and back was also to be Gregg's '"last trip across the
Prairies'".

Like others along the Canadian, Gregg found little that would ever
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present attractions to "agriculturists'". The land was said to be either
too sandy or too marshy for cultivation, but concerning the two routes
to Santa Fe, he wrote,

the route from Arkansas possesses many advantages. Besides
it being some days travel shorter, it is less intersected
with large streams; there are fewer sandy stretches, and a
greater variety of wood-skirted brooks, affording through-
out the journey very agreeable camping places.

The more southern climate was also looked upon with much favor.

In nearly all accounts of travel across the Indian Territory, men-
tion is made of "The Cross Timbers'". At various times and by various
people, this jungle-like mass of shrub-brush and oak trees was described
as extending into northern Texas and as far north as Kansas. It was
Gregg's description of the Cross Timbers that others. studied and planned

around.

The Cross Timbers vary in width from five to thirty miles,
and entirely cut off the communication betwixt the in-
terior prairies and those of the great plains. They may
be considered as the 'fringe' of the great prairies,

being a continuous busy strip composed of various kinds of
undergrowth; such as black-jack, postoaks, and in some
places hickory, elm, etc., intermixed with a very diminu-
tive dwarf oak, called by the hunters 'skin-oak's. Most

of the timber appears to be kept small by the continual
inroads of the 'burning prairies'; for, being killed
almost annually, it is constantly replaced by scions of
undergrowth; so that it becomes more and more dense every
reproduction. The underwood is so matted in many places
with grape-vines, green briars, etc., as to form almost
impenetrable 'roughs', which serve as hiding places for
wild beasts, as well as wild Indians . .

In spite of the barrier presented by the Cross Timbers, the use of
the Canadian River route to Santa Fe continued for some time until when
in 1844 the Mexican dictator General Santa Anna closed the trail out of
fear that too many Americans were entering his province. In spite of
its initial reason for being cut off, the route still saw frequent users.

In the early fall of 1845 directions were given to the Bureau of
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Topographical Engineers to make a report on the upper Arkansas River and
the surrounding Comanche country. Lieutenants James W. Abert and Wil-
liam G. Peck were to head this expedition. After having traveied up the
Arkansas the party ended its journey at Bent's Fork, Colorado. From
ﬁhis point Abert, the chief officer, was ordered to descend the Canadian
for’his retﬁrn to Fort Gibson. For the purpose of reporting, the Lieu-
tenant kept a daily log of their travels. Like Gregg's narrative, it
presents a very interesting picture of the area near Canadian and some
local inhabitants. On approaching the Gaines Creek-Canadian area,
Abert's log reads,
| We now traveled on a narrow strip of land between the

Canadian and its north fork, which stream appears to be

the more heavily timbered of the two; for, in looking in

the direction of the north fork, we saw a dense forest

of oaks extending as far as the eye could reach. As

buffalo were still invitingly frisking about us, we

despatched two of our men to get meat for the camp.3

These were the last buffaloes seen by the party. It seems few buf-
falo ventured to cross through the Cross Timbers. This was also the dis=
tance that most buffalo herds kept between themselves and civilization,
Fort Gibson being about 100 miles distant. Large Indian villages had by
now sprang up in the region., A few more miles down the trail, on the
north side, this party was questioned by some settlers who, 'doubtless
supposed that we had been robbing Santa Fe traders, or shooting Indians,
as there are some people on the border fond of such amusements.'' The
Lieutenant then proceeded to give a description of the dress he and other
members of the expedition usually dawned, as did most other frontier ex-
plorers.

The costume of the party was such as would likely excite

some suspicion; for we were dressed in buckskin trousers,
with fringed seams; shirts of bright red flannel, and
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calico of all colors; our hair long and wild; our faces

sunburnt and unshaven; and, with our rifles flung across

the saddle-bow, we presented a formidable, (if) not to

say ferocious, appearance.

For some years still the route remained in use and in 1849, it was to
see its heaviest usage and eventually its last.

Iﬁ January, 1848, gold was discovered in California and the '"'Rush
of 49" was soon on and again the Canadian River route west would prove
to be of importance as a highway for "49'ers' and their '"gold fever".
The acting Governor of California at this time was General Richard Barnes
Mason, by chance, a former commander of the garrison at Fort Gibson.
Being well known throughout the territory, when news of hié official re-
port reached Fort Gibson and Fort Smith, hundreds rushed to the forts to
prepare to go to '"California or Bust', as was their popular slogan.

Many Indian citizens would join in these forthcoming expeditions. Among
them were a few Choctaws. Throughout the fall of 1848 and early months
of 1849, small groups wandered into Fort Smith and some began their trek
across the Indian Territory., Still others gathered to be escorted by
the Army in the early spring of 1849.5

'On April 2, 1849, orders were received at Fort Smith to form an es-
cort to leave the fort for Santa Fe, for the purpose of affording pro=-
tection to citizens immigrating to the newly acquired territories.
Captain Randolph B. Marcy was to be the commanding officer. The Captain
was ordered to proceed in this march, ''along the valley of the main
Canadian, wholly on the south side of the river, by the most direct
practicable route'", (to Santa Fe). The Captain and his men were to go
ahead of the party until they "arrived near to Edwards'" on the Canadian.
"The principal objects of this expedition are: to. ascertain and es~

tablish the best route from this point to New Mexico and California; to
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extend to such of our citizens...traversing your route such facilities
as circumstances may require, and ...to insure them a safe and unmo-
lested passage across the prairies...'"

Marcy's detachment was composed of 79 other officers and troops
and one civilian doctor. The Captain's '"train'' consisted of eighteen
wagons, one six-pounder iron gun (cannon), and a travelling forge, each
drawn by six mules. Captaianarcy and his troopers set out on April 5.
On April 11, the Fort Smith and California Emigrating Company began fol-=
lowing. There were 479 in the company, in seventy-five wagons drawn by
500 oxen and 500 horses and mules. With the hundreds of pack and sad-
dle horses and extra dray animals, the train stretched three miles long
on the narrow roada7 This was the 1arg¢st party to ever pass near the
Canadian area.

On April 10, Captain Marcy and his troops reached Gaines Creek. In
his written report, he refers to the stream as ''the south fork of the
Canadian or Gaine's creek'', but on his table of distances and camp
sites, he lists it as "James creek'"'. The table also shows that an
Indian farm was located by the crossing as was a ferry.

The south fork of the Canadian is 76% miles from Fort

Smith; is one hundred feet wide, and twelve feet in

depth at the ferry. There is a ford about three hundred

yards above the ferry, where the stream can be crossed

when the water is not high. From here our course was

18 degrees south of west, over a rolling prairie, for

ten miles, until we struck the bottom of Coal Creek, 88

miles from Fort Smith.8
The party had forded Gaines Creek south of Canadian, the rolling prairie
was probably Reams Flat.

Marcy, with the aid of an engineer, cut out a crude road as they

headed for Santa Fe, constantly marking the route, taking readings on

the sun and carefully measuring the distance. Miles were counted by
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chain length and viameter, a red mark on a wagon wheel. He found the
total distance by this route to be 819% miles. But once in Santa Fe,
the party discovéred that no direct western route lay out of that town
for California. 1In consequence thereof, Marcy and the migrants had to
drop south 364 miles to Dona Anna. At this point, Marcy and his command
were relieved by another escort party and they returned to Fort Smith
by crossing up through Texas entering Indian Territory near Fort‘Washitao
Marcy's journey was not only significant for the Indian Territory, but
also important for the discoveries he made in the Southwest disproving
stories concerning rivers and mountains which actuaily did not exist.
Marcy was also the first to find the true headwaters of the Red River,
This and other expeditions by Marcy were to influence the course of all
American history. Throughout the eleven years following Marcy's return
to Fort Smifh until the Civil War began, national debates would run hot
concerning proposed military roads and railroads to span the continent.
Many of these roads would eventually pass by the Gaines Creek-Canadian
area. Marcy himself said, "I am of the opinion, that but few localities
could be found upon the continent which would present as few obstacles
to the construction of a railway as upen this route”e9 Unfortunately,
the building of either a road or a railway would prove to be no easy
task due to geography, and most importantly, politicse.

The year after Marcy established his trail, 1850, the American na-
tion felt a relief of tension, but at the same time heard a warning bell
of a crisis yet to come, for in that year, the Great Compromise of 1850
was struck by several individual acts of Congress. The Compromise pri-
marily dealt with the admission of states and territories to the Union

as either '"free' or ''slave', but caught up in debates from time to time
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were arguments for a transcontinental railroad. Northerners wanted a
route at or above the 39th parallel north, through "free'" country, while
Southerners demanded one along the 32nd parallel which was shorter and
more practical. 1In early 1853, the Congress ordered that surveys be made
along five parallels to ascertain the most practicable and economical
route for a railroad from the Mississippi River to the Pacific Ocean,
One of these routes was to be along the 35th parallel, which passed
through the Choctaw Nation along the Canadian River. To conduct this
survey, Secretary of War Jefferson Davis, who in eight years would become
President of the Confederate States éf America, ordered First Lieutenant
Amiel Weeks ﬁhipple of the Topographical Engineers to begin a survey at
Fort Smith, On july 15, 1853, the party left the area of the fort

bound first for Skullyville, This party was composed of geologists,
engineers, surveyors, astronomers, meteorologists, a physician, and a
renowned German artist, writer and topographer, Heinrich Baldwin Moll-
hausen. Mollhausen was the first person to ever make drawings or
sketches of the Canadian River region. One of his works shows the con-
fluence of what he supposed was the Canadian and Gaines Creek. While La
Harpe had been the first "white" in the region, Long's party the first
scientific, and Marcy's had been the largest, the Whipple party was
surely the most scientific and '"learned'', Almost daily, while in the
Choctaw Nation, the party passed by numerous Indian farms and stores
where they were usually greeted by educated Choctaws wearing typical
"white man's clothing's Their only complaint was the high prices for
food stuffs. Beeves (cattle) were $10 a head, sheep $2.50, and corn was
as high as $1,50 per Bushele

On August 2, camp was made on a little creek flowing into the
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Longtown, a little east of present Blocker, The party remained there
for two nights because as Mollhausen said, "it was in a most lovely
little valley, on the border of a murmuring brook and beneath the shade
of lofty unbrageous trees « . . The mules, freed from their burdens,
were grazing in herds, or rolling in the cool soft grass to cleanse
1

their heated and dusty bodies'. 0

While at this camp some members of the party, including Mollhausen,
explored the region to their north. After a hard ride across rocky
ridges and marshy lowlands, this,

party reached the Canadian at the intended spot, namely

where the Northfork and Southfork joined it . » o The

scene had a dreary desolate character, and though the

banks were richly grown with cotton-wood and cedar, no

agreeable effect was produced. Trunks of trees, blacked

by the effects of the water and of time, lay uprooted

and half covered with sand, their withered, ghostly-

looking branches and roots sticking out; here sat the

white heron motionless . . » and the vulture wheeled

slowly above . . . We were all glad to %et away from

a place that had so little attraction.!
Though the artist says he arrived at the '"Southfork', usually the desig-
nation for Gaines Creek, he was probably at Longtown, from which the
North Canadian can be seen.

On August 4, the Whipple party approached the Gaines Creek area
near Reams Flat, after several days of heavy rains.

Passing into the bottom lands belonging to Gaines'

creek, the foliage of the forest seemed too dense

to allow the sun to warm the earth or evaporate the

moisture, and the road was one long succession of

miry sloughs and muddy pools. Having travelled

seventeen and a half miles, we camped upon La

Honda, a branch of Gaines creek.
The next day, the party trooped only a quarter of a mile and forded

Gaines Creek. From there they headed southwest and encamped at Perry-

Vi].].eo
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The Whipple railroad survey through the Chocgaw country did not
bring a railroad to Indian Territory, because by the time the survey
was completed and the report made to.Congress in 1854, the flames of
sectional hatred prevented any transcontinental railway attempts until
the North and South could settle their differences. Eventually, around
the turn of the century, a railroad was built near this route out of
Fort Smith; this was the Fort Smith and Western. This road ran three
Tiles south of Canadian.

More directly, the Whipple survey influenced the direction of sur-
veys for a military road into the West and Southwest. Throughout the
years from 1857 to 1859, the government caused several roads to be sur-
veyed from the West Coast east and from the Mississippi River west., In
late 1857, a survey was pushed out of Fort Defiance on the eastern
California border toward the Colorado River in New Mexico. The route
was aiong the 35th parallel and was approximately the same as Whipples'.
The oddity of this expedition was that for transportation the party used
a mixed herd of mules and camels. For meat a flock of 350 sheep were
driven along. To head and superintend this odd survey, Secretary of War
Jefferson Davis commissioned Edward Fitzgerald Beale, one of the most
colorful and active men in the history of the American West. Beale had
great success with the expedition of camels and these animals remained
in service for several years before the idea was given up. Many of the
camels were sold to zoos or circuses, but some were turned loose, and
over the years until as late as the 1900s, many stories and legends
abounded about camels roaming the American Southwest. After the con-
clusion of this survey, Beale was commissioned to survey a route from

Fort Smith to Albuquerque, New Mexico, estimating the cost of



"33

constructing a railroad. During most of the month of October, Beale
waited in Fort Smith collecting his men from all over the States. Final-
ly on October 28, the party set out. When they reached Skullyville,
Beale divided the party into three units. He would head unit one over
the Immigrant Trail that turned to the north of the Canadian. Unit two
would follew two days behind estimating railroad construction in detail.
Unit three would follow the Marcy route by Perryville. They were to
meet at Aird's (Edward's) which was about five miles south of present
Holdenville along the Canadian. The purpose of units one and three was
to determine the shortest route to Edward's from the fort. 'Compared
distance by Mr. Law's (Unit Three) viameter and our own, and find his
road three miles shorter; so much for that matter, which has been a
bitter dispute between the north siders and south siders ever since I
. . 13

arrived at Fort Smith".

After crossing the Canadian, Beale camped near North Fork Town,

an insignificant village. Here we found corn had advanced

from its usual rates of two bits to a dollar a bushel; of

course, there had been a short crop, a drought, an unusual

demand =-- in fact, a thousand plausible reasons were given

for this increased price =« but the true one . . . which

was that a government train and its quartermaster's drafts

were on the road.l%
Quite frustrated, Beale rode ahead to get a cheaper rate than the $1.00
which had been quoted him. Thirty-five miles away, he found it for
$.75 a bushel, When the rest of the train arrived, the price was up to
$10000

Besides estimating building cost for the railroad, Beale made
recommendations as to what creeks to bridge for the road.. Pursuant to

these recommendations, several bridges were actually built. The closest

ones to the Gaines Creek area were across Emachaya Creek and the San
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Bois. In later years, the town of Iron Bridge would acquire its name
from the bridge on the latter. During the Civil War, several of the
bridges were destroyed, including ""Iron Bridge'.

Though Beale's survey was the first and only to get immediate re-
sults, by the building of bridges, it was also the last official ex-
pedition to use the 35th parallel west. Both of the routes surveyed by
Béale became established roads in Indian Territory. Eventually the
south road or Marcy's would become State Highway 31 from near Spiro to
McAlester then U. S, Highway 270 to Atwood, which would be a few miles
across the river and south of "Edwards''s The Beale Road which crossed
the Canadian to North Fork Town is presently State Highway 9 from Fort
Smith to Eufaula. The Texas Road, which by Beale's time was having good

usage, is U. S, Highway 69 through most of the state.
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CHAPTER . V
THE ANTE-BELLUM PERIOD

The discovery of gold in California in '49 and the establishment of
the Marcy Road toward Santa Fe had brought about a flurry of activity in
the states adjacent to Indian Territory, and also in the Choctaw Nation.
The 1850s had brought several official survey expeditions through the
Nation plus hundreds of civilian travelers still going to California.
Though many Choctaws had profited from trade with these wagon trains,
most’of the citizens in the Nation resented these encroachments by
whites. Trouble was also arising with the adopted Chickasaws, who since
the 1837 treaty, had resented their non-sovereign status in the Choctaw
Nation.

Incidences arose and disputes flared into fights as to the rights
and limits of the Chickasaw District in the western part of the Natioﬁo
Finally on November 4, 1854, a new treaty was entered into by the two
tribes. Ignorance of geography had caused these disputes and so the
Chickasaws being the main disputing party agreed to pay for a new survey
of the boundaries in question if the Cﬁoctaws would agree to stand by
the judgment rendered by the surveyor.

One area in question involved Gaines Creek. The treaty of 1837 had
described the boundaries of the different districts, but some of these
lines later proved to be erroneous. Part of the boundary was to run

from '""the line dividing Musha-la-tubbee and Push-meta-haw districts;
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thence eastwardly along said district lines to the‘source of Brushy
Creek; thence down said creek to where it flows into the Canadian River,
ten or twelve miles above the mouth of the south fork of the Canadian.
o o « [Gaines Creek]”.1

In point of fact, the stream which the treaty called Brushy Creek
did not flow into the Canadian but was only a branch of Gaines Creek.
By 1854 the geography of this area was well known and so the two tribes
were anxious to settle on definite lines of boundary. To effect this
survey, a civil engineer, Captain R, S. Hunter was employed. In a
letter to Douglas H. Cooper, the agent of the Choctaws, Hunter made
several observations of the region. He said Captain Marcy's maps had
been of great help and aware that '"'Brushy Creek', supposedly emptying
into Gaines Creek was claimed by many people to be the line separating
the Choctaw and Chickasaw districts, Hunter took special care in survey-
ing this area. On the immediate Gaines Creek-Canadian area he had this
to say,

The land on Gaine's Creek, from the California road to its

mouth is generally poor. Thence for nearly twenty miles

(west), there is a belt of very good land along the Ca-

nadian, from one to four miles wide. Coal Creek and its

tributaries furnish small parcels of good land.?2

Still the leaders of the tribes were not satisfied. The Chickasaws
desired not just a district but their own sovereign natien. This being
agreeable to nearly all the citizens, the Federal government in 1855
entered into yet another treaty with the Choctaws and Chickasaws. This
time the two were permanently separated as governments but would retain
only one agent, he to remain at Boggy Depot. Both tribes had to re-

linquish claim to any land west of 100 degrees west longitude and further-

3
more lease to other tribes that land west of the 98th degree.
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The main cause of antagonism was now gone, but the separation had
disrupted district lines in the Choctaw Nation. Accordingly, the Choc-
taws found it necessary to draw up new district and county boundary
lines. The first counties had been organized in 1850 when the Choctaw
Council had reorganized its judicial system. Under this reorganization,
nineteen counties had been formed in the four districts. The town of
Canadian was in the Chickasaw District in Perry county. Gaines Creek
formed a portion of the eastern boundary of the Chickasaw District.
Across the Creek in Mosholatubbee District was Gaines county. After the
separation of the Nations, this area of which Canadian was to be a part
was incorporated into the Mosholatubbee District in November, 1855. Be-
sides the original four counties of Skullyville, Sugar Loaf, San Bois,
and Gaines, a new county was formed. The new county was named Tobaksi,
meaning coal. Tobaksi county was roughly the same as the northwest half
of present day Pittsburg county, plus a small portion of Hughes county.
The Choctaw ""Tobaksi'' has been corrupted by whites into '"'Tobucksy'.
Though coal was not mined in any real quantity in this county as yet,
it was known to be available there. It is interesting to note that in
1907 when Statehood came to the Indian Territory, this area was incor=-
porated into Pittsburg county because of the rich coal mines around
Krebs. The name was adopted from the coal town of Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, after dropping the 'h',

The 18565 were very complex years throughout the Choctaw Nation.
The General Council found it necessary to amend the tribal constitution
several times. Often as in the case of the Skullyville convention of
1858 bitter arguments broke out and for a time, civil war within the

tribe was feared. The 1850s also brought problems with slavery. In
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March 1854, the Choctaws received a copy of the United States Attorney
General's opinion, addressed to the President, 'respecting the right of
persons to reclaim fugitive slaves from the country of the Choctaw Na-
tion of Indians'". 1In the North, this new fugitive slave law was ill-
received but was looked on very favorably by the slave-holding Choctaws.
The newspapers of the Nation and those of Fort Smith were filled with
reward offers on runaway slaves. A study of the letters received by the
Office of Indian Affairs for the 1850s shows a building question over
the right to hold slaves and other related questions. Clearly, half of
the letters received in 1859 pertained‘in some way to slavery.

Only a handful of slaves had been brought to the Nation during the
"removal', but by 1860 there were 2,297 listed Negro slaves and 67 freed
Negroes in the Choctaw country. There were 385 slave holders and as
many as 227 slaves belonging to one man. The slaves averaged approxi-
mately six to each slave holder in the Nation. The ratio of Choctaw
citizens to Negro slaves was approximately 8:1.5 Very often the ques-
tions on slavery were complicated and, on occasion, very tense. In
August of 1859, an Adam Nail (or Neil) wrote a letter to Choctaw Agent
Cooper, requesting help in the case of a claimed Negro slave, in behalf
of a local citizen, Betsy McGilbery.

While still in the East, a Choctaw, Imoklash-hopi (Singer), gave a
Negro girl (Pender) to his niece Amaha while they were still young chil-
dren. When grown, Amaha became Mrs, William McGilbery and had a daugh+
ter, Betsy. When old enough, the son of Singer, Secobige, claimed the
Negro girl Pender and sold her. The matter was brought before a council
trial and Mrs. McGilbery got Pender back.

In 1856, Mrs. McGilbery died and bequeathed to her daughter Betsy
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the slave Pender and all her children. One of these children, Jack,
was stolen by Ward Coachman, a prominent, if not notorious, son of
Secobige. Coachman lived across the Canadian in the Creek Nation.
Coachman sold the slave, Jack, to the Myer's Brothers Trading Company
of Fort Smith. Claims were filed against Coachman, but the Creek court
awarded Jack, Pender, and her other children to Coachman. The case then
went to a circuit court in Fort Smith and the slaves were once more re-
turned to the McGilbery's. Adam Nail was asking for help against the
Myers and Coachman because,

Ward Coachman with his command came to McGilbery's and

caught two negros and a pony . . . got the negros . . .

. but the pony was run off . . . they never got it. Myers

comes occasionally in the dead hours of night, with

weapons, Pistols and double Barrel Guns, and force open

doors in connection with persons unknown to us . . .

all of which can be proved; threatening to take any

negro belonging to McGilbery. Negroes continuallg on

the run. No set of men could stand what we have.

Nail asked Cooper to find for them a proper court and settle the matter.
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CHAPTER VI
THE CIVIL WAR IN INDIAN TERRITORY

As the United States' national elections approached in late 1860,
the Choctaws became concerned over the possible dissolution of the Union.
In December of that year following Republican Lincoln's election to the
Presidency, the Southern states began their secession. Many Choctaw
leaders viewed this as inevitable and justifiable. Worried about the
collapse of the Federal government, the General Council on February 6,
1861, instructed their delegates in Washington to treat with the of-
ficials regarding the safety of their invested money, and if possible,
to withdraw it and deposit it in some Southern banks. The following day,
delegates were appointed to meet with any inter-tribal convention that
might convene, to discuss their relations with the Federal government,
""'so long as said Government is in existence, otherwise to urge a renewal
of such relations with such Confederacy as may be framed among the
Southern states'.

That same day, February 7, the General Council adopted a resolution
expressing deep regret and great sorrow at the present unhappy political
disagreement between the Northern and Southern states. It further re-
solved,

That in the event a permanent dissolution of the American

Union takes place, our many relations with the General

Government must cease, and we shall be left to follow the

natural affections, education, institutions, and interest

of our people, which indissolubly bind us in every way to

the destiny of our neighbors and brethren of the Southern
States . . .2

42
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How prophetic the words, "indissolubly bind us « ... to the destiny
of our neighbors . . ." would seem by the end of the War in 1865. The
Choctaws did stand clése to the Confederacy and most certainly they
shared the same fate. The last official Confederate command would be
surrendered in the Choctaw Nation, the last and strongest holdout for
Southerners in the Indian Territory.

At the same time that the Choctaws were meeting in special session,
the Southern governments were meeting to framé a constitution for the
Confederate States of America. Both the Choctaws and the Confederacy
were wasting little time readjusting. By July, the Confederate com-
missioner of plenary powers, Albert Pike, began meeting with the tribes
in Indian Territory at North Fork Town to créate treaties of friendship
and alliances. On July 12, the Choctaws, joined by the Chickasaws,
signed their treaty. They acknowledged themselves to be under the
protection of the Confederate States of America, and of no other power.
For their part, the Confederacy agreed to assume all the responsibili-
ties which had been carried by the United States.3 The Choctaw Nation
was now officially a part of the Confederate States of America. The
Choctaw reasoning was sound and sincere in these undertakings, but along
with a good portion of the rest of the South, the Choctaws faltered when
they thought the Federal government would peacefully allow the separa-
tion of the Southern states. This hope was finally dashed when in late
April of 1861, Confederate artillery began bombarding Fort Sumter, South
Carolina. The Choctaw delegation and Douglas Cooper, their agent, quick-
ly returned from Washington. On May 13, Confederate Secretary of War,
L; P, Walker, empowered now Major Douglas Cooper, to raise a volunteer

mounted regiment among the Choctaws and Chickasaws to be commanded by
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himself. The Choctaws were easily the most eager Indian allies the
Confederacy had, and Cooper had no trouble raising this First Regiment.
Even in the face of being second classed, they remained ready to serve
and fight. In a letter written in July, Major Cooper stated the nearing
completion of the Choctaw Regiment of Mounted Rifles and declared many
others to be desirous of service. But he also lamented the lack of co-
operation at Fort Smith, the Confederate Headquarters, and the failure
to supply the needed arms. He further states that the Choctaws and
Chickasaws could furnish as many as 10,000 warriors if needed and that
they were extremely anxious to form another regiment. ''There seems to
be a disposition', wrote Cooper, '"to keep the Indians at home. This
seems to me bad policy. They are unfit for garrison duty, and would be
a terror to the Yankees'".

The Choctaws were indeed ready and willing, but they were not to
taste battle for another two months. In the time between their enroll-
ment and their first engagement, the Choctaws, among 2,000 others,
drilled and practiced at newly established Camp Pike., This camp was
located just north and east of Whitefield ét the intersection of State
Highways 2 and 9, next to the Canadian River on the Beale Road. Cooper,
now a colonel, was in charge of these headquarters.

Not far from Camp Pike, Chief Opothle-yohola, a loyal Creek, was
assembling his people, ex-slaves, and supplies to head north to Federal
safety. They were encamped by '"Fisher's Store', Fishertown being about
three miles northeast of North Fork Town. Colonel Cooper had written
the Chief several times admonishing him to cease his activities and bow
to the wishes of the government. The Chief ignored these requests and

so accordingly, Cooper determined to take direct action. This would
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mark the first campaign use of the Choctaws or any Indian troops by
either side in the Civil War. This action took placé approximately
twelve miles north-northeast of Canadian.

Having exhausted every means to negotiate a settlement, Cooper re-
solved to advance upon the Creeks with the forces under his command and,
"either compel submission to the authorities of the nation or drive him
and his party from the country'"., To this effect, on the 15th day of
November, 1861, troops were moved up the Deep Fork of the Canadian to-
wards the supposed camp of Opothle=yohola's forces. The camp, which
had been abandoned, was found, and the trail followed. The Loyal Creeks
were pursued and caught near the Cimarron River. The Creeks had hid in
ambush and in the first engagement the Confederate command was forced
to fall back. As soon as the firing was heard at the main position, the
Choctaw and Chickasaw regiment began advancing on the enemy. Because of
the darkness of the night they came to within sixty yards of the enemy
before savage firing broke out. Commenting on his troops' first battle,
Cooper stated,

The promptness with which the Choctaws and Chickasaws came

into line and the steadiness with which they maintained

their position during the entire action merit unqualified

praise, especially when it is considered that the night

was extremely dark, and the number and position of the

enemy uncertain, and that they stood for the first time

under an enemy's fire.

This running battle with the Creeks continued until they fled into
Kansas where they suffered much that winter due to their loss of sup-
plies, cattle, and many loved ones. So the Choctaws first battle in the
Civil War ended in neither a true victory nor a defeat, but a short war

was proclaimed because all the South had done well that year of 1861.

1862 would be a fair year also, but by the end of 1863, the romantic



46

KANSAS ey
’ - SConm
” MOVEMEAIT S . - m
s o Cn/r«:ofmrt AITER CREEXNS Nov. I96) > l\
000 STEe/C'S RETRIATAFTCR FAll of &76,;;;,‘.',); o,
+++GeNFRA)S GANO And wATY'E / x
FROM BATTIE oF CAb /A c}gf-’,‘,’ g Y . .
. L
(%
> |/
Pl
6 »
"

)
i

S
N J
SEMInIp sy, NATiow
VAT Yoy o

! ’,"x:@"o ° °‘; e O
1€ Aiveq o R
) 2 £}

2hndinn Rivea 1

(L]
N
>
[~
N
N
€
SYSAYNVY

chicHpspw |
VAT onm ”"'g,

BATITES Awd SK1fMISHE S

Cod
|

%'2" ??Bolf/c oF Round mT. Nov 1%
% ' 9 BATTIC of HONEY 3PAINGSTuly 17,/543
A\ ' 3.5Kamish AT RARYVINEAUG.281%3
: 1) .BATTIE FoR STeAMOo AT, Junt 15,1864
‘;% g secomd BATIIE of cnbinReeK, stgl )g
+ i punTsKiamiehtsiiTh Sfft/tng‘ 25
: 1953

Gecoy 2. BAT/ES FoR LoceEssiom of carmp frKE

Donks ville

7EX NS .‘ . L_

Figure 3. Civil War Activity



47

dream would be lost.

Activity in 1862 was slower than the preceding year in Indian Ter-
ritory, but it was also the year of the most decisive battle fought
west of the Mississippi. This was the Battle of Pea Ridge or Elkhorn
Tavern, in the northwest éorner of Arkansas. Some 16,000 Confederate
forces were opposed by 10,500 heavily armed Federals. The battle took
place on March 7th and 8th. General Albert Pike was commanding a di-
vision of troops. Among them were four full regiments, two battalions
and some detached companies of Indians. One of the regiments was the
First Regiment Choctaw and Chickasaw Mounted Rifles under General
Cooper, plus the Choctaw and Chickasaw Battalion.

Since the end of the battle the merits and usefulness of the Indian
troops which participated have been much debated. Some authors have
claimed their main objective was to consume huge quantities of food,
others say they committed gross inhumane atrocities by reverting back
to their '"savage nature', but still other authors more readily see their
part as effective and as a major contribution. Though it did become a
Union victory, the battle would have been predetermined and undecisive
had not the Indians, over 3,000 in number, been present. General Cooper
and his Mounted Rifles and the Choctaw and Chickasaw Battalion did not
actually participate in the battle. They were hastening toward there
when they met with the Confederate retreat.

The year had been reasonably quiet in the Indian Territory, but the
Federals had gained nominal control of the territory north of the Ar-
kansas River. The Choctaw Nation was now the bastion of the Confederacy
in the Territory. Throughout the year, small numbers of Southern

sympathizers and the dispossessed migrated into the Choctaw Nation. By
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the end of 1863, hgge numbers of destitute families had entered the Na-
tion seeking food and safety. Throughout the War, the Choctaw people
shared what they could with these people.

Fort Gibson, renamed Fort Blunt by the Federals, had been captured
by the Federals in December, 1862. The Commander of the Department of
Indian Territory, Confederate States Army Brigadier General William
Steele, believed Fort Gibsbn had to be retaken if the country north of
‘the Arkansas was to stay in Confederate hands. Steele ordered General
Cooper to establish a headquarters at Honey Springs near Elk Creek.,

This was to be a staging area for a proposed attack on Fort Gibson.
Before taking action, Cooper was to receive reinforcements of 3,000 men
from Arkansas, Théy were to arrive at Honey Springs, along the Texas
Road, on July 17.

Major General James G. Blunt had arrived at Fort Gibson on July 11.
General Steele learning of this, on July 15 ordered Brigadier General
William L. Cabell, from Arkansas, to send forward, toward Honey Springs,
such portion of his brigade as was in readiness. Cabell had been rest-
ing and regrouping his 3,000 troops near Camp Pike. From the 1llth to
the 15th, Blunt had been busy constructing flat boats to ferry his men
across the rain swollen Arkansas. He had been hampered in crossing the
river because Cooper had troops stationed in "rifle-pits'" at every
crossing. At midnight on the 15th, Blunt succeeded in crossing the
river much farther up stream with 250 cavalry and four pieces of light
artillery. As he marched back down the river, the outpost troops fled
the rifle-pits back toward Honey Springs. Blunt immediately began cros-
sing his forces in boats and by 10 p.m. of the 16th, commenced moving

south with less than 3,000 men; mostly Indians and Negroes, and twelve
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pieces of artillery. At daybreak on the 17th Blunt's forces came upon
the Confederate's advance guard about five miles from Elk Creek, and
with his cavalry drove them back toward their éain force, which was then
forming on the south side of Elk Creek.7

Early on the 16th, General Cooper had sent out the First Cherokee
and Choctaw Regiment and a squadron of Texas cavalry as this advance
guard.. The morning of the 17th had dawned damp, cloudy,,and dreary as
this advance guard met Blunt's forces. The advance of the enemy came in
sight of the position occupied by the Choctaws and Texans and they "comg
menced a brisk fire upon them'', which was returned, and followed by a
charge which drove the Union forces back. Soon after the Federals had
been driven back, it began raining, 'which rendered (all) arms wholly
useless'. The Choctaws and Texans then fell back slowly to the main
camp for the purpose of obtaining a fresh supply of ammunition and pre-
paring for the impending fight. Accordingly, the Union advance halted
until the main body could be brought up to form a line of battle.8
General Blunt halted his men behind a little ridge about one-half mile
from the enemy's line, '"to rest and eat a lunch from their haversacks'.
After a two hour rest., he formed them into two columns, one on the right
of the Texas Road, the other on the left. The infantry was in column by
companies, the cavalry by platoons and artillery by sections, and, "all
closed in mass so as to deceive the enemy in regard to the strength of
(the) force'". Blunt then moved his forces forward in line of battle and
soon drew their fire. "In a few moments the entire force was engaged
. o« o the fighting was unremitting and terrific for two hours, when the
center of the rebel lines . . . beéame broken, and they commenced a re-

9 .
treat'. The Confederate forces were now in full retreat. The Choctaws
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had become discouragéd by the worthless ammunition and had given way and
were then ordered to fall back with the other troops, which were moving
off in an easterly direction.

After a further chase of eight miles toward the Canadian, General
Cooper's "affair at Elk Creek'", and General Blunt'é "Battle of Honey
Spring" had ended. Cooper reported 134 of his men killed and wounded
plus 47 taken prisoner. He estimated enemy losses exceeded 200. He had
much praise for the Choctaw's and Texan's outfits and much condemnation
of his poor arms, inadequate supplies, and wet, worthless gunpowder.
Superior Union artillery and larger forces were cited as reasons of de-
feat, but, in all reality, his forces outnumbered those of Blunt almost
two to one. Blunt listed his losses at 13 killed, and 62 wounded, 150
enemy killed and 400 wounded and 15 wagons captured.11 All things con-
sidered, the Confederate Indian forces had made a poor showing at this,
the most decisive battle in Indian Territory.

Through the rest of July and until August 8, the command moved
around from Honey Springs to Soda Springs, about two miles from present
Checotah, and finally back to south of the Canadian River. By August 12,
the Confederate line of defense was along the Canadian from Longtown
Creek to San Bois Creek. General Steele did not believe he and Generals
Cooper and Cabell could hold this position and so on August 16 ordered a
Captain S. Howell down the road toward Perryville to begin some defensive
works along the Texas Road. He was to establish his camp ten to twenty
miles north of Boggy Depot.

Meanwhile at Fort Gibson, Blunt was awaiting reinforcements, ''to
again move against the enemy'". On August 22, General Blunt and rein-

forcements under Golonel William F. Cloud, from Kansas, began moving
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across the Arkansas and toward Steele's position. This Union advance
was composed of 4,500 men. On the 23rd, Steele abandoned his camp and
began moving down the valley of Longtown Creek.

By the 24th, Blunt had arrived at the abandoned works around Camp
Pike and learned early the next morning that Steele and the Confederates
were at Perryville and at daybreak headed in that direction. "About
10 o'clock the advance guard met in the timber, a company of Choctaws
o o o Four of their men were killed . . .'" This skirmish took place
about sixteen miles due west of Canadian near State Highway 71 between
Enterprise and Quinton. Several more times during the day, the two
sides fired at each other as the Federals advanced. At 8 p.m.. that
evening, they arrived at the town of Perryville, where they were fired
upon by two horwitzer batteries charged with canister shot.12 The main
body of Sﬁeele's f§rces were some miles down the road and only a com-
pany had been left to stall Blunt. Perryville was a regular military
post and an important depot, being the only point between Boggy Depot
and North Fork Town. The whole town of Perryville was burned. Also
during this campaign the depot at North Fork Town had been destroyed
along with a smaller depot '"3 miles south" called "Canadian Depot' or
"Johnstons'" on the south side of the Canadian., More importantly, after
Perryville had been taken, Blunt marched on Fort Smith and set up head-
quarters there on September 2. The Confederate forces were now in con=
trol of only the far southern half of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations.
Mass desertions were now in process and many civilians began seeking the
charity of the Federals. Nearly all of Indian Territory had become a
waste land. Crop failures were causing famine among the citizens of all

tribes. General Steele summoned up the failures of the army as due to
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powder that became '"a paste'- on the slightest contact with moisture, and
by stating, '"as I have ever feared, the Indian troops except one regi-
ment of Choctaws, were no service whatever. The greater part of the
Cherokees were absent (on duty elsewhere), and the Creeks utterly re=-
fused to leave their country after‘(its) occupation by the enemy".1

On September 23, General Steele left General Cooper in command of
the Confederate Indian troops in order to return to Louisiana. 1In a
letter dated October 9, 1863, Cooper stated his immediate intensions,
"The enemy is now at Fort Smith, (and) North Fork (Town) though not in
large force « « » I am moving this morning in the direction of North
Fork, via Camp Johnston, near Canadian, where there is an abundance for
forage"-.,14 North Fork Town was then occupied by a small force of Union
troops. The Union Commander, upon hearing of Cooper's advance, burned
North Fork Town and retreated northeastward. Cooper moved on to Camp
Pike where he received a visit from the infamous Colonel William Clarke
Quantrill on October 12, Battle activity diminished for the rest of the
year as both sidés went into winter camp..

January 1864 brought a vigorous reorganization of the Indian Ter-
ritory Command. General Cooper became a Division Commander and Colonel
Tandy Walker was given command of the Choctaw Brigade. The first six
months of 1864 seemed to belong to the Federalé as they made several
sweeping campaigns across the Creek and Choctaw Nations. The one major
campaign of 1864 that was to be related to the Gaines Creek-Canadian
area began to develop in early September as the Confederates began to
regroup around Camp Pike for a new offensive.

On September 13, General Gano and 1,200 of his Texans met with

Cherokee General Stand Watie and 800 of his men at Camp Pike. They
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agreed on making a campaign through the Cherokee Nation. On the l6th,
this command attacked Federal forces engaged in the moving and storing
of hay at Flat Rock, near present Wagoner. Over 150 Federals were
killed and captured and approximately 6,000 pounds of hay plus several
wagons and mowing machines were burned. More important than this vic=
tory, though, was the information acquired from the prisoners, of a
wagon train expected at Fort Gibson., Immediately,‘a large detachment of
the Confederate command went in search of the wagon train. It was dis=-
covered near Cabin Creek on the 18th. The train was made up of 255
wagons and a vast herd of mules. By midnight, the rest of the command
arrived and an immediate attack was decided on. The first shots were
fired around 3 o'clock the morning of September 19th. In a report from
General Gano, dated September 29, 1864, at Camp Bragg along Gaines Creek,
the day's events are outlined,

advanced the entire line to within 500 yards of the enemy's

position. An officer (Union) came out in the darkness to

hold converse, and having informed us that they were

Federals and learned that we were rebels, he called on God

to damn us and invited us forward . . . Crash after crash

of shell swept Yankees, negroes, pins, and mules away from

the lan§ of ;he living, while Tgery regiment and company

poured in volley after volley.
Six hours after the first volley had been fired, the field was carried
by the Rebels along with more than $1,000,000 worth of Federal property.
Union losses were estimated at 23 and the Confederate only 6. These
Union supplies had been headed for Fort Gibson, which made this victory
doubly good, since earlier in the year. General Watie had captured a
steamboat, near Webbers Falls, bound to resupply Fort Gibson,

As the Confederate command moved back to the safety of the Choctaw

Nation, they made a movement to the west and finally turned back south

near Tulsey Town. Just south of present Checotah, the troops entered
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the Texas Road and proceeded by North Fork Town, crossed the Canadian
and proceeded along Gaines Creek to Camp Bragg, west of the Texas Road.
Camp Bragg was probably located on the east side. of the creek near the
location of an old Creek village along the "Old Gaines Creek Road'.
While at Camp Bragg, Generals Gano and Watie made field reports of their
actions, regrouped and rested. The Generals' arrival at Camp Bragg had
ended the engagement at Cabin Creek, known in history as the ''Second
Battle of Cabin Creek'. More importantly, this battle marked the last
significant encounter between Union and Confederate forces in Indian
Territory and Camp Bragg, the end station, was located only three miles
from the future site of Canadian..

The last activity to be associated with the Gaines Creek-Canadian
area took place in November of 1864. In October, General Sterling
Price, one of the outstanding Confederate commanders had begun a cam-
paign in Missouri and after some success suffered a heavy defeat on
October 25th., After destroying many of his own supplies he began a
quick retreat across Missouri, into Arkansas, then through the Choctaw
Nation. Camp was made the night of November 9th at Camp Pike, and the
following night camp was made on a "branch'' flowing into Gaines Creek,
On November 12th, camp was made along Gaines Creek at Reams Flat. From
here the retreating army went to Perryville, then mafched across the
Red River., This marked the end of the final battle related movements to
pass by the Gaines Creek-~Canadian area.

Because of the numerous campaigns by both sides in the Canadian
River region, food supplies and all attempts at farming and ranching had
ceased. A large portion of the populace had already been forced to

search for food and safety in the southern half of the Nation and north
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Texas, but General Price's retreat through the region had done even more
to demoralize the population. As with all the South, the Indian Ter-
ritory found itself out of nearly all supplies and equipment by late
1864.. Small forays were made across the Canadian and Arkansas Rivers
by the Choctaws and Cherokees, but the war was quickly winding to a halt.
That halt came on April 9, 1865, when General Robert E. Lee surrendered
to General Ulysses S. Grant at Appomattox, Virginia. On May 26th,
General E. Kirby Smith, Commander of the Trans-Mississippi Department,
of which Indian Territory was a part, surrendered to General Edward
R, S, Canby at New Orleans.. On June 18, 1865, Principal Chief Peter P.
Pitchlynn signed the instrument of surrender on behalf of the Choctaws.
General Watie as commander of the Creeks, Seminoles, Cherokees, and
Osage troops surrendered his command on June 23rd and thereby became the
last Confederate General to surrender in the Civil War.16

0ddly enough, the Choctaw Nation, once persuaded to leave the South,
was the last region of the Confederacy to sign a surrender. The South
and the Choctaw Nation would suffer greatly in the next ten years. The
South would ultimately regain its position, but the Indians of Indian
Territory were to see their land and government disappear. Under the
treaties they were forced to sign in 1866, they gave up many of their
sovereign powers. The Civil War would leave many ill feelings and scars
across the Nation. Though tempers and passions would cool, they would
never be forgotten, especially in portions of the Choctaw Nation. 1In
the 1870s as the railroad built into the country, many towns sprang up;
one of these was McAlester, which is still known as the '"Heart of Little
Dixie'.

The fires of the Civil War had raged all around the area that was
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to become Canadian and there may have been military patrols pass be-
tween the hills in which Canadian sets. Locally, there is some evidence
thét Union and Confederate forces could have met three miles north of
Canadian on Sand Branch (or Mill Creek). In 1923, a group of workers
were sawing timber at a mill on this creek when their saw blade cut
through a tree exposing what they believed was a cannon ball. In 1913

a local newspaper ran an article requesting information from old sol-
diers about the "Canadian Civil War Battle'. Though there is no of=-
ficial mention of any such contact between Union and Confederate forces,

the story could well be true, but not every engagement could be re-

ported, recorded and saved,17
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CHAPTER VII
THE M, K., AND T, RAILROAD

As the end of 1865 brought the end of the Civil War to the Indian
Territory, it also brought the soon to be hated term,/"reconstruction”“
The policy of reconstruction was to renew the Southern states' govern-
ments to what ''the Federals'" thought they shquld be. After a period of
time and if the several states conformed to Federal policy, they were
to be allowed back into the Union on an equal basis, but, as in most in=-
stances of defeat in war, the vanquished fell victim of the victor.

Many revengeful politicians were appointed to oversee the Southerners,
and villianous carpetbaggers took advantage of the beaten and dispos-
sessed white, black, and red.

In 1866 the Choctaws were forced to sign a new treaty with the
Federal government. The final treaty, signed April 28 provided in part
that the western Leased District be surrendered but on the payment of
$300,000.00; the tribe had two years to decide the fate of their freed-
men; Negro colonization would be confined to the Leased Districtif it did
take place, and the Choctaws retained almost complete control of white
immigration; trust fund monies were to be restored and annuities re-
newed .

This was the longest and most complicated treaty entered into be-
tween any of the Five Civilized Tribes and the Federal government during

the period of reconstruction. It contained over fifty articles. The
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most important article for the Canadian area was Article Six of the
treaty by which the Choctaws granted a right-of-way through their coun-
try for companies to '"undertake to construct a railroad . . . from the
north to the south thereof, and from the east and west thereof . . ."
This north to south railroad was to be realized in only six years.

Only six months after the official surrender of the Confederate
government, a group of men met in Emporia, Kansas, to make a decision
that should have been as historically significant as the launchings of
the Union and Pacific Railroads toward each other. The recent Civil
War had worked great economic hardships on both sides and one of the main
hardships in the North had been the loss of abundant agricultural goods
and cattle at reasonable prices., The men meeting at Emporia on Septem-
ber 20, 1865, hoped to be able to fill these needs while turning a
handsome profit, by the construction of a railroad from central Kansas
to the Gulf of Mexico.

By the end of the Civil War, two railroads had already reached
Kansas, These terminus' were at Saint Joseph and Kansas City. The lines
there could easily reach the '"Transcontinental" and any point East.

What was lacking was a route to the Gulf from the central United States
and a line into the cattle and cotton area of the Southwest. The Union
Pacific Railroad Company, Southern Branch, incorporated that September
day at Emporia was going to fill the gap. But in order to do so, it
would have to overcome many obstacles. Its one advantage lay in the ex-
periences of the Union Pacific management which had already headed west.
However, there were two problems that off-set any advantage; that of
strong initial competition to the southern border of Kansas and the ne-

gotiations with the civilized Indian Nations rather than Plains Indians
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who were controlled by the government.

Throughout 1867-68, the directors of the Southern Branch worked to
get financial backing. In the fall of 1869, actual construction began
out of Junction City for Emporia. The Indian Nation had decreed that
only one road could be built through the Territory and at this point
the Southern Branch was behind the Missouri River, Fort Scott, and Gulf
Railroad in the race to be first to reach the Indian Territory, and
thereby claim the standard grants of land to build the line. To ef-
fectively win this race, the Southern Branch went into reorganization.
New directors came forward, better personnel were acquired, and the road
was then reborn not as just a branch of other lines but as a full-scale
railroad unto itself., Accordingly, it was renamed on March 31, 1870,
and the Missouri, Kansas, and Texas Railroad came into being. The
"Katy'" as it quickly came to be called was now on the move.

On June 6, 1870, the M.K, & T, arrived at the border of Kansas and
the Cherokee Nation; they had won the race. They had worked hard but
had also used some questionable tactics to win the race. Some creeks
had been dammed instead of bridged, several miles of grading were too
narrow for regulations, and lesser weight track had been used than was
called for. However, their competitor was still sixteen miles away and
according to the government, the M,R,, F. S, & G. had illegally changed
its route. Through default and perhaps a little '"usual" deceit, the
Katy earned the right through the Indian Territory. In all the Katy
would claim 3,100,000 acres of land as a grant to pay for construction
of this line, but in 1914, this claim was denied. The Katy suffered but
survived.

Before reaching the Territory the Katy had been the victim of .
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financial crisis and physical set-backs. Lawlessness and vicious quar-
rels had broken out many times as was usual to railroad settlements and
building in their beginnings. The Katy had seen hard conditions, but
the activity it was yet to see in Indian Territory was far worse than
could have been expected. Since the end of the Civil War, outlaws had
regularly sought haven in the Nations. There had been little to induce
them to remain, and generally after a brief hiding period, these
"roughs'" returned to the States to reek more havoc. Now the railroad
promised to bring prosperity to the Indian. The less 'law-ified'" na-
tions and settlements of the Territory were instantly transformed into
"fierce little hells of gambling and murder' as terminus towns gave way
to newer terminus towns.

By August 27, the "Three Forks'" area of the Verdigris, Neosho, and
Arkansas Rivers had been reached. Gibson Station was created as a
temporary terminus as it would take several months to complete bridge
building and track laying across the rivers. Because the track layers
were idle much of this time, the town boomed and here the roughs took
possession in earnest. On several occasions, as many as three men were
killed in one night. It was said that sometimes the graveyards were
better populated than the towns along the railroad. One night, one of
the roughs lost at a game of Keno; in a rage, he left but later came up
behind the tent and tried to shoot the dealer in the back: His bullet
missed the dealer and killed another man. ''The keno man just got a
board and put it behind himself, and the game went on'.

Because of late winter weather and a bridge disaster, building pro-
ceeded slowly and the track did not reach the North Canadian River until

March 25, 1872, and it was April 15th before the bridge was completed
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across and a '"dump'" of materials made near the town of North Fork. Sup-
plies were stockpiled about two miles south of North Fork Town as bridge
building across the Canadian was being completed. For this "temporary"
station, the Katy General Manager, Bob Stevens, took the Creek Indian
Agent's suggestion and gave it the name, Eufaula, after an important
village in the history of the Creek tribe. At Eufaula the railroad was
again delayed when the newly finished structure on the south side of the
Canadian gave way and collapsed on the sandy river bottom, This new de=-
lay was directly responsible for the establishment of Eufaula as a perm-
anent town and for another smaller settlement on the south side of the
river. This town would, in a year, be called South Canadian, but be=
cause of its mobs, roughs, gamblers, and cut=-throats, it was then widely
known as Buzzards Roost and, at best, Sandtown. In April, 1873, one
year after the bridging of the Canadian, as the line was completed in-
to Denison, Texas, a correspondent for an Eastern magazine traveled the
length of the M.K, & T. to report on its building, success, and advan-

tages. Reporter Edward King of the famous Scribner's Monthly magazine

wrote thus of the little community,:

On the Canadian River is a town which has at various times
possessed the euphonious appelations of 'Sandtown' and
'Buzzards Roost'. It is now merely a collection of roof-
less cabins, but was long the rendevous of all the ruf-
fians infesting the Territory. Perched on a waste near
the river's sake, it was a convenient location for murder
and plunder, and travelers learned to give it a wide
berth.%

Due to the ceremony that was to surround the bridging of the Ca-
nadian, several Eastern newspapermen were around the Eufaula-Sandtown

area in April of 1872. Reporter and author for the Gincinnati Commer-

cial, John Hanson Beadle, who had come to report on the railroad and

Indian country, related an event that had taken place a couple of days
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before their arrival. It seemed that a Texan returning home with the
proceeds of a cattle sale stopped at '""Canadian Station'" and began drink-~
ing with the local thugs, ''he was seen at 10 o'clock with them, drunk
and generous with his money; a few days later (,) his body was washed
ashore some miles down the Canadian'. To future newcomers, Beadle had
this warning, "These murders are (usually) upon their own class, and
newcomers who are weak enough to mix in, drink and gamble with them'.

While the outlaws were pillaging stores and burning stockpiles of
ties to delay the track at the Canadian River, the railroad officials
invited Secretary of Interior J. D, Cox to preview the new frontier
railroad. His visit was set to coincide with the bridging of the Ca-
nadian. It is probable that the officials wished to acquaint the Secre-
tary with the lawlessness of the region and thereby secure some Federal
protection. This visit took place the closing days of April, 1872, and
the line was then complete to present day Canadian. Reporter Beadle
gives a first-hand description of the eventful day,

We were off from Muskogee at 7 o'clock a.m. to see the
remaining forty miles of road completed, then a little
south of the main Canadian . . . We cross Little Ca-=
nadian or North Fork, within a mile of the Methodist
Mission, (Asbury Manual Labor School) . . . Two miles
down the river is situated North Fork town . . . We
hear a white man has just been mortally wounded in an
affray there . . . Between the two Canadians the piece
of road is seven miles long and midway thereon was then
the nominal terminus and the station for the El Paso
Stage and Mail Line. We pause here for an hour (at
Eufaula) .. » . Thence to Main Canadian we traverse

a dense forest . . . The bridge here was finished
several months before, and about the time the track
was laid the southern abutment gave way .. . . We went
over on the first locomotive which crossed; hitherto
construction cars had been shoved across singly by
hand. After our passage the engine brought over a very
heavy train loaded with iron, and the bridge was then
officially pronounced safe.

After visiting the bridge, the party returned to Eufaula to spend
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the night, where the following day, the Secretary was to be conducted
on a tour of the town. That night, a man was shot and killed within a
hundred yards of the Secretary's sleeping car. During the course of
the night, a member of the visiting party became ill, so the Superin-
tendent-in-Chief left the train to go about the tent town searching out
a doctor; by mistake, he entered a tent of gamblers and one, named Cal-
lahan, who happened to be a little out of humor, thrust a six-shooter
into his face and exclaimed rather pointedly, "Air ye lookin' for me?
I'm ready if y'are!" The Superintendent then made a quick retreat back
to the train without a doctor.

On the tour the next morning, the Secretary passed by the tent
where the dead man was '"laid out". The Secretary had made comment on
the "intruders in the Indian country'" and all over town each thug
boasted to the Secretary that, 'the had a good right to stay in the Na-
tion, and he meant (with an oath) to stay, and he'd like to hear any one
hint that he'd better go away'. To further illustrate their contempt,
they bragged on murderous exploits, shot off their guns and later in the
day, took a shot at the Secretary as he attempted to address a group
from his railroad car. At such a display of contempt and lawlessness,
the Secretary did exactly what the Katy officials had hoped he would.,

A telegram was dispatched to Washington declaring that neither life nor
property were safe in the Indian country and that the Indians should be
aided at once in expelling the gangs. Several squads of the Tenth
Cavalry from Fort Sill responded immediately to the call. The ruffians,
"got together . . . armed to the teeth, and blustered a good deal; but
the cavalrymen arrested one after another . . . When one of the termi-

nuses was asked his name, he usually answered that it was Slim Jim, or
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Wild Bill or Lone Jack (with an oath), and that he was a gambler of a
pounder . o oo With another oath, he would state that he intended to
stay right there in the Territory, 'Whereupon the officer commanding
would say: 'Well . . . Lone Jack . . . I'll give you twelve hours to
leave this town in and if you are found in the Territory a week from
this date, I'll have you shot! And they took the hint".8

The military was highly respected and feared and for a short time
the temperature of the region around the railroad cooled off. As was
expected though, this was merely a calm and not an end. The next day,
the Secretary was gone from the Territory, and after a few weeks the
Cavalry returned to duty elsewhere. The crooks, murderers, and scum of
the earth again arose from hiding and hit the iron trail in search of
riches from the pounder's pockets. It was at this time, the close of
April, that the Katy was building through the site of South Canadian,

Tobaksi County, Choctaw Nation.
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CHAPTER VIII
CANADIAN'S BEGINNINGS

Canadian was not an officially organized railroad town as were so
many other communities along the Katy line. In Canadian the railroad
set up a round house, station, stock pens, and a cotton platform, but
the town's location was determined and organized by private Choctaw
citizens, on its merits as a central meeting point for their surrounding
farms. Another consideration was that the small valley in which Ca-
"nadian is found was not easily usable as farm land and t%is area there-
fore would not be needed for agriculture. Some farmers in the immediate
area, and first citizens, included George Moncrief, Charles McDuff, E. S.
Cheadle, G, . W, Walker, and R. L. Reams, Jr.1 Other first residents in-
cluded several businessmen who had formerly been at work in Sandtown.
The less law=-abiding elements had continued to follow the rails south.

Canadian had been fortunate in that the outlaws continued to follow
the tracks., Perhaps it was the strong béaring displayed by the local
citizens; perhaps it was the supposed worthlessness of the area inhabi-
tants that had caused the gangs to move on. The Katy was fortunate too
for they did not experience any further major delays or lawless uprisings
until the tracks reached the end of the line at Denison, Texas. For a
certainty, criminal elements did remain active in the Nation, as well as
at the terminuses, as is seen from letters and dispatches from the

Choctaw and Chickasaw Agent located at Boggy Depot.
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On June 25, 1872, Agent L. D. Griffith sent a telegram from Boggy
Depot via the nearest telegraph office, which was then located at the
new town of South Canadian, "Boggy Depot. C,N. XXVTh. Via South Ca-
nadian Ter(minus). XXVIITh., Hon. C. Delano. éecy. of Interior.
Washn. DC. Through misapprehensions of the necessity for the constant
pressure at the Terminus (Canadian) Gapt. P, C. Lee has been ordered
away just when he had established good order. Cannot he be returned at
once, Without a company no one will be safe from here to the end of the
track. L., D, Griffith. U.S. Indian Agt. Colect Govt. Rate."2 In an
accompanying letter, of greater detail, to Commissioner of Indian Af-
fairs, J. A. Walker, Griffith summarized this of the withdrawal: '"As
once the order was known those who had been compelled through fear to
abandon bad practice, started for reinforcements and whiskey."3

As the railroad had continued to advance, new terminus tent towns
had sprung up, but until the tracks reached Atoka, much deeper in the
Choctaw Nation, Canadian remained the southernmost operating terminus
of the MK, & T., and therefore some of the first town citizens of Ca-
nadian were railroad personnel. Signals and a telegraph were operated
at Canadian and siding rails were in evidence. One or two small and
primitive general stores were undoubtedly operated near the tracks, but
it is not known by whom. On May 29, 1873, almost eleven months to the
day that the track had reached Canadian, the United States Post Office
Department entered South Canadian, Tobaksi County, Choctaw Nation,
Indian Territory on its list of postal offices. R. D. Burton was in=--
stalled as the first postmaster. The Burton family owned a farm north
of town and was destined to remain in Canadian for another quarter cen-

tury. Canadian had the distinction of being only the thirty-third
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designated Post Office in the Choctaw Nation, out of some 300 which were
established before 1900.4

Canadian did not experience a boom in population as did many rail-
road towns. Its growth was slow but steady and progressive. One of the
reasons for Canadian's slow growth was to be fouﬁd in the economy of the
United States. What caused a flutter in the economy of the States
created convulsions in Indian Territory, where the standard of living
was substantially lower, and the nation-wide '"Panic" in 1873, created
by over=-speculation in western land properties and over-extension in
railroad building, kept economic growth slow. Many of the new railroads
beginning to cross the West folded. It is to the great credit of the
Katy that they were able to keep themselves afloat. The Katy managed to
remain in operation, but the markets she had just recently opened were
effectively closed again. If the farmer could not secure the needed
price, his crops remained in the field, and everyone continued to suffer.
Luckily for the small town, the "Panic'" did not stay long, and by 1875
the economy was once again on the upswing.

Actual pictures of the town during this period are lacking, but
facts and estimations from various sources reveal a town of approximately
100 people. Many of these area residents lived three miles away, but
Canadian was the closest town and, therefore, their town. In area size,
the town occupied only three small blocks, two on the east side of the
tracks and one on the west. Along the west side of the main line lay the
side track and on its west side the small, crude loading dock. About 100
feet to the south were the holding pens for shipping livestock. On the
east side set a small one-room station and telegraph office, with a

couple of storage sheds around it. North, about 75 yards up the tracks,



70

were located the switch and more supply buildings. A-wagon road which
followed the tracks out of Eufaula along its eastern side crossed over
the rails immediately north of the small station house. The main road,
now replacing the Texas Road, continued on toward '""McAlester's Store",
while a smaller trail led southwest out of town toward Captain Mon-
crief's farm and several others. 1In 1876 the railroad constructed a
small split-level house for occupancy by the station house operator.
The house was located within twenty-five feet of the tracks on the west
side. Today the house is still standing in good condition, and is the
home of Fred and America Burwell. This home, soon to be 100 years old
has been moved one-half mile south from its original foundation. Though
easily the oldest house in Canadian, there are several others, built
during the 1880s, still standing in good condition.

By 1880, Canadian's growth tempo began to quicken. In its begin-
ning, Canadian was only a station to ship farm products out and a few
manufactured goods in but in this new decade, Canadian was to begin its
true calling, that of a trading center and ginning community. The two
most prominent business leaders of this early day were the Graig (Créig)
brothers and John 0. Toole and his brother. Toole was destined to be
the biggest trader in Canadian and one of the biggest in Indian Terri-
tory. In the mid-1880's, these two business factions hired large num-
bers of clerks and common laborers to work in their stores. In 1887, a
dentist, J. E, Wite, was brought into town under their employment. Other
new citizens became residents under the guise of being employed by other
Choctaw citizens. Some of the larger employers in Canadian at this time
were G, W, Walker, R, D, Burton, and Ben F, Hightower. Most of the new

. . 6
residents were listed as '""farmers' or ''renters'".
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Naturally, not all of the new citizens arriving in Canadian were
Choctaw or Chickasaw citizens. Under the laws of the Choctaw Nation,
a non-citizen could marry a '""blooded" citizen and thereby obtain all the
rights of a regular full-blood Choctaw. Under another plan, non=-
citizens could come into the Nation by being employed or sponsored by a
citizen., It was under this guise that the great majority of early
citizens settled in Canadian. By the paying of a small fee, the em-
ployed one could remain in the Nation a full year. One could even be
employed as a renter., This entitled him to not only reside in the Na=-
tion but also work or operate a business. Some of the fees for differ-
ent occupations were as follows: Clerk, Jeweler, Photographer =- $10.00
annually; Butchers, Teamsters, Mechanics, Shoemakers, Carpenters and
Engineers == $5.00. The fee for a common laborer was only $2.60.7 Many
of Canadian's citizens may have had no permit to be in the Choctaﬁ Na-
tion or any of Indian Territory. This group of individuals were re-
garded as "intruders'. The Indian republics did not have the money or
personnel to keep out so many whites, and the white settlements contin-
ued to grow as time went on. The agent for the Five Civilized Tribes
in Muskogee, in 1881, estimated there were 15,000 permit residents and,
in 1884, 35,000 non=-=citizens with and without permits in the Indian
Country. By 1890, the figure for non-citizens had risen to 140,000 out
of a total population of 210,000 for all of Indian Territory.8

Canadian continued its steady growth through the mid-1880s. The
Tobaksi County Permit Registers reveal that from 1886 through 1889,
Canadian residents and businessmen were hiring or gaining permits for
almost as many new employees and residents as was McAlester and Krebs

with their large coal mining operations. In December of 1893, an A.P.
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(Tony) Chamberlin began hiring stone cutters, masons, and common
laborers for the Canadian area, and it appears from this that Canadian
soon had its first major stone and brick buildings. This stone was ac-
quired from a local stone quarry which was opened on the top of the
hill just one-half mile west from the downtown area. Another quarry
was opened approximately two miles southeast of town. One source has
it that éome of the larger sandstone blocks from these quarries were
shipped to Austin, Texas, for use in construction of new State Capitol
buildings. Later these quarries supplied building stones for Canadian's
schools.9

In 1887, Canadian residents dedicated their first church building.
This was the Baptist Church. It was a small two-story wooden frame
building which had been made possible through the joint efforts of the
church members and members of the A,F, and A.,M. South Canadian Masonic
Lodge Number 22, which had been founded in November, 1875. The building
was located on Smith Street approximately 150 feet south of the present
Baptist Church. Church services were held downstairs and the second
floor was used by the Masons. These arrangements continued until
1908.10

Prior to the building of this first church residents met at the
homes of lay preachers of the community and during pleasant weather
"brush arbors' were constructed and the meeting took place outside. The
second church formed in Canadian was the Methodist Episcopal Church
South, and the third religious sect to form in Canadian was the Chris-
tian Church. Like other frontier towns, Canadian at this time was un-=-
able to secure full-time pastors and therefore relied on the ''Circuit

Preacher'". This preacher made it his duty to travel around the country
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and give the sermon and conduct baptisms on differing Sundays of the
month. The earliest directory of church services in Canadian comes
from March, 1895. At this time, the Baptist Church had Reverend L. F,
Patterson and Reverend Charles Henderson directing the congregation,
while services were conducted only the first and third Sundays of each
month. In the Methodist Episcopal Church South, Reverend Story directed
the services the second and fourth Sundays, and the Christian Church met
only every second Sunday of the month under the Reverend J. W. Bar-
teetts., 11

Aside from the churches, the most active and prominent social or-
ganization in Canadian was. that of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows.
The I.0.0,F. South Canadian Lodge Number 7 was organized early in 1889.
The major contribution of the Odd Fellows in Canadian was to the local
education system. The majority of Canadian fesidents being non-citizen,
there were no Choctaw public schools available and, therefore, the sys=
tem in Canadian had to be self-supporting. A teacher was paid a salary
from the fees collected for each pupil attending classes. These classes
met for the first time regularly in the basement of the I1.0,0.F, build-
ing on the corner of Toole Avenue and West Main Street., The town's

first newspaper, the South Canadian Bazoo, reported on April 19, 1895,

on the school system and town pride surrounding it.
The rooms are large, well lighted and fitted with forms,
desks, black boards, and school apparatus, almost equal
to an ordinary academy, and necessarily is, and should
be, the pride, and admiration of every 0dd Fellow or
other citizen of the town.!
The fees for attendance were divided, like the school, into three

levels. Primary grades, first, second and third, were $1.25 per month

per student. Intermediate grades, fourth and fifth, were $1.50 per
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month and the Advanced grades, anything above a fifth grade speller and
arithmetic, were $2.00 a month. Teacher of the intermediate and ad-.
vanced courses was Thomas Compere, Principal, and of the primary grades,
his wife, Jennie Compere. Classes consisted of readers and spellers
for levels one through five and primary arithmetic and geography for
grades up to three. Fourth and fifth graders began primary history and
intermediate arithmetic and grammar.

Canadian's first school building was not constructed until 1896,
It was located at the southern end of Belt Avenue on the same site as
the present school. It was a wooden frame structure of only four rooms
which faced west, divided by a hall or 'breezeway'. Each room was oc-
cupied by two grades. Canadian's oldest citizen, Walter Salmon, at-
tended this school in 1898 as a fourth grader. The Salmon family had
moved to Canadian in 1893 and young Walter was employed as a water boy
while his father was a Katy line foreman.

To towns of the 19th century, the most important facilities to
serve the community were those of a newspaper and a school. The desire
to acquire schools and news had always been the most important quest in
frontier towns. These were their links to knowledge and understanding
of the outside world. The first newspaper to be published at Canadian

appeared March 1, 1895. This was the South Canadian Weekly Bazoo.

James D. Tignor served as owner, publisher, and editor. The Bazoo was
primarily an advertising sheet and carried few world or national news
items but the Bazoo was a perfect example of frontier resourcefulness.
The construction of its press was completely the design of Mr. Tignor's,
and quite an oddity. The Fort Smith Elevator, one of the oldest and

most popular papers in the Territory, commented,



The Bazoo is something of a curiosity, as it is printed
on a press of Mr. Tignor's own invention and make. In
its construction he used a common marble slab as the
bed. For the cylinder a Bruah cylinder of a cotton press
was used. This was covered with wood to bring it up to
the requisite diameter, then the 'tympan' of paper and
cloth completed the outfit. A crank attached to the
center of this cylinder acts as a motive power. The
inside of the cylinder is filled with log chains, old
iron, etc., to give the required weight. With this
unique press Mr. Tignor gets out a first rate looking
sheet . . J1°

After like comment, the Purcell Register of Purcell, Oklahoma Territory,

declared the Bazoo was, "Another illustration of, where there's a will
there's a way!" The determination of Tignor to put out a first class
and informative newspaper can also be seen in his motto that appeared
underneath the masthead, '"Hew to the Line, Let the Chips Fall Where
They May'".

Tignor had come into Canadian through the non-citizen permit sys-
tem. His permit of twelve months was first issued October 10, 1893.
He was listed as a carpenter under the emp loyment of Captain George Mon-
crief. 1In 1894, he received another permit of twelve months, this time
as a barber, One of his attractions for subscribing to his newspaper
was to offer to shave each new patron free for a month. He listed his
barber business as that of a Tonsorial Artist. To further his finances,
Tignor also sold bicycles besides running his main business, a printing
office. It was his good fortune to be the only printer in Canadian and
therefore, handled most of the hand bills, the most popular form of ad-
vertisement in that time. Tignor was a prime example of Canadian's
enterprising businessmen.

Canadian, in the early 1890s, began experiencing a surge in growth.
The local newspaper was filled with reports of building and planning.

The fly of the hammer and sing of the saw were heard from daylight to
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dark. Cotton crops increased and trading houses and general merchandise
stores pushed business and competition so strongly that Canadian soon
came to be recognized as the leader of trade in the region. Many pa-
trons came up the long twenty-mile wagon road from the McAlester area
in order to take advantage of the highly competitive businesses. Ca-
nadian merchants advertised in both Eufaula and McAlester newspapers.
Canadian's livelihood centered around cotton. By 1890, three cot-
ton gins had been established in the town, and at one time a total of
five gins were operating from the thriving community. Long raised plat-
forms stood along the side railing for loading the bales of cotton into
the Katy boxcars. To handle this cotton and sell it to manufacturers,
trading houses had sprung up. When a farmer brought the first of his
cotton or corn crop into the gins or mills, he consigned his crop to one
of the local businesses which then sold the cotton to larger or national
interest. The farmer usually received around four cents per pound in
the seed for his early cotton, in the depression years of the 1890s. It
was at this time that the farmer exchanged part of his crop for large
equipment or household items. Around this occasion of 'cashing the
crops'" and finally receiving some "fruit of the labor'", grew an annual
town festival. During the picking season, the Katy transported laborers
free to such "cotton stations'" as Canadian. The gins were required to
run twenty-four hours a day through the height of the season to stay
abreast of the flow. Some cotton was hauled in from as far as fifty
miles in the early years. As the money began to roll in, the drummers
and medicine shows did also. The pan handlers, side shows, and wheels
of fortune crowded the Main Streets on either side of the Katy tracks.

Small theatrical groups also came to perform in vacant buildings to add
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for a short time the class and show of the larger cities. Many of these
wagon-based businesses stayed on for weeks. The wilder attractions ran
every day and all night on Fridays and Saturdays. Some of the main ac~.
tivities and attractions were, a rodeo in the railroad stock pens,
wheels of fortune,‘a rifle gallery, and the pitching of baseballs at a
black man's face seen through a hole in the back of a large tent.1

To handle this cotton bUsiness, there were several large trading
stores and numerous small ones. The largest in town was that of the
Toole Brothers. Other large trading and merchandise stores included,
The Spot Cash Store, operated by J. D. Browder; the McNabb Brothers
Trading Company; Brown Mercantile Company, owned and operated by Joe
Brown; the Racket Shop, operated by William L. Belt; and Smith Hardware,
owned by J, G, Smith. Some of these establishments did thousands of
dollars worth of business over the '"trade'" or ''sale days', usually
Friday and Saturday. Every item one wished to purchase could be se-
cured from any one of these larger stores. Work clothes, imported
women's wear, fur coats, Springfield wagons, $7.50 men's suits, hats for
everyone, guns and black powder, every kind of farm machinery, plus a
full line of canned food stuffs. The Toole Brothers even sold coffins
and funeral accessories but were given close competition on this product
by the S.A. Cope Undertaking Shop, which offered a full line of "Cof-
fins, Caskets, Robes, Hose, Slippers, etc;, of all sizes (with) Coffins
from $10.00 up".17

The second most prominent businesses in early Canédian were the
drug and patent medicine stores. The two largest and most reliable were
the Fulton Drug Store, owned by J. D, Fulton and the J, P. Mickle Com-

pany. So that the drﬁggist could have prescriptions to fill, there were
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no less than seven resident doctors in Canadian by 1895. These were
Doctors W, H, Murphy, R.A.R., Hallum, J. T. Lowery, J. P. Mickle, W. E,
Crowder, W, P, .Lewallen and his son, T. B. Lewallen.18 Doctor Lewallen
remained to practice in Canadian for fifty years until his death. His
large impressive home, built in 1907, stood until 1970, Doctor W, E,
Crowder in 1902 moved four miles south of Canadian and founded the town
that bears his name, as the Fort Smith and Western Railroad built across
the M.K., & T, tracks at that point.

The Katy Railroad performed important services to the residents of
Canadian and the surrounding region. On the Katy tracks, connections
were operated for the Choctaw, Oklahoma and Gulf Railroad., The Katy ad-
vertised for the fastest transportation into Texas and to St. Louis and
the Choctaw, Oklahoma and Gulf declared, '""direct connections from South
Canadian to Fort Smith and Fort Smith return to South Canadian'. The
Fort Smith tfain departed Canadian at 8:11 a.m. and arrived Fort Smith
1:25 pom., a good time for an over 100 mile journey in 1895. The Katy
stopped four times daily in Canadian. No. 1 Northbound at 6:38 a.m.,
No., 4 Southbound at 8:11 a.m., No. 2 Northbound at 8:08 p.m., and No. 3
Southbound at 9:37 p.m.19

Like the rest of the éown the local newspaper continued to change
over the years and in November of 1895, Tignor changed the name of his
sheet to The Monitor. The format remained the same, as did the sub-
scription rate of $1.00 a year. Most of the items in the press were of
local actions by the citizenery and reports of businesses and business
trips. One of the most common reports dealt with injuries received by
passengers while getting on or off the "flyer'". The editor often repri-

manded the railroad in his press releases for its failure to make
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complete stops when it was behind schedule. Another common tragedy re-
ported were drownings in the Canadian River both north and west of town
and in Gaines Creek, by the ferry. Most of the drownings occurred when
men fell from their horses while crossing. The most gruesome tragedy
of river crossings befell the family of a farmer, George Glover. ' After
spending the day shopping in Canadian, Mrs. Glover, a teenage daughter,
and a smaller boy and girl were attempting to cross the Canadian on the
ferry northwest of Canadian. In mid-stream the ferry was hit by a wall
of water three feet high and was overturned. The mother managed to hold
on for a brief time but her children were swept away. The older daugh-
ter was carried around the river's bend and up Gaines Creek as the flash
flood waters pushed the regularly slow moving creek backwarés. Three
miles up Gaines Creek she was seen by a group of men on the Gaines Creek
road, but was swept three more miles before another group was able to
affect her rescue.  She was taken to Doctor Lewallen's home in Canadian
and was reported to have been "torn in shreads" but eventually re-
covered. Mrs. Glover had lost her hold and was being carried down
stream when she passed by her young son who was clutching a tree limb
by one hand and his younger sister, white and lifeless, in the other.
His mother, seeing the girl dead, shouted for him to let her go and save
himself., He, too, was later found dead. The little girl's body was not
recovered until a month later when a Porum farmer notified papers he had
found a body along the Canadian river bank.20

Outlaw activity also made the news in the early 1890s but Canadian
and the immediate region was relatively unmolested. The reason for this
» might be found in one of the local news items from the surrounding com=-

munity of Indianaola, that stated, '"Since the breaking up of the Cook
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gang, Log Johnson has dismissed his military company and ran his bat-:
tery under the shed: peace and quiet rains throughout, except a little
riot or street brawl such as is common in most frontier towns"a21 The
Cook gang was a notorious outlaw band in both Indian and Oklahoma Ter=-
ritories. Their speciality was.robbing trains. From the indication
that a '"battery'" (cannon) was put away, it seems the local citizens were
taking heavy steps to deter the criminals.

The good humor of the €Canadian people and their editor is also
shown in press releases. A Marion McMurry reported that a bear had
killed a pig in their pen on the outskirts of town, and the editor added
this note to the report, "I think it must of been a two legged bear as
there is plenty of them now days'".

In August of 1898, for some unknown reason, editor Tignor dropped
out of the newspaper business until September 15, 1899. 1In his ab-

sence, the local paper became the Canadian Advertiser and was published

by a G, H. Finnigan. Finnigan, like Tignor, had a sense of humor, too,
as is seen from the September 8 issue of 1899. It seems a prominent lady
had dropped a $10,00 earring into a group of fifteen chickens. Thinking
it had been eaten, she killed the whole bunch one by one, then found the
ring where  an old hen had dropped it in the grass'. Finnigan ended the
story by stating assuredly, "The family (is) already tired of chicken!’.23
Interesting stories from Canadian often centered around the Ca-
nadian River railroad bridge. The bridge was a total wooden structure
of around 1,300 feet in length, a long bridge for its day. 1In extremely
dry seasons, a man was posted at the bridge to walk across it after each
train had passed. Engines of this time were powered by burning coal

to produce steam and they emitted a great many sparks as they moved over
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the rails. It was the important duty of this bridge walker to see that
the bridge had not caught fire.

In the "rise of '98" as it is recalled by some Canadian residents,
a terrific flood threatened the railroad bridge. As the river rose,
large trees were dislodged from its banks and crashed into the pilings
of the bridge. As they collected among the pilings, they began to
catch more water and the force of the river soon threatened to collapse
the structure. Men from Canadian were hurriedly employed to go down into-
the raging river and chop up the trees to dislodge them. In an ultimate
effort to save this vital bridge, a special train was run from Kreb's
coal fields loaded with huge coal boulders to sit on the bridge in an
attempt to stabalize it. Finally, even this desperate effort failed,
and in one great burst of fury, the bridge was uprooted and swept away
by the rushing Canadian River. After this catastrophe, the Katy Rail-
road dug a canal to divert the angle of the river. The new course al-
lowed the railroad to build a new bridge further east down the river on
a better location,

Local projects of the Canadian area in the later 1890s centered on
improving the school system, advertising the town, and improving the
roads and ferrys to better the trade possibilities. One of the under-
takings in 1898 was the grading of the Gaines Creek road and establish-

ing a safer ferry for the crossing. The Canadian Advertiser carried an

editorial on September 2 suggesting the businessmen of Canadian, "devise

]
1

a plan to (establish a free) ferry boat across Gaines Creek', and give
the farmers who lived in that direction free transportation.
The farmers at the forks of the creek and adjacent there=

to have made a proposition to haul the lumber to the creek
provided the merchants of South Canadian will pay the
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expense of constructing the ferry and arrange the matter

of free transportation. The old ferry is in bad con-

dition and we understand the farmers generally are afraid

to cross the creek during high water periods . . &

The Gaines Creek ferry was especially treacherous because the landing
on the west side set on a very small piece of bottom land surrounded by
steep hills. A small stream, known locally as Rock Creek, entered
Gaines Creek just 200 feet above the ferry landing and during high
water the small ground was quickly covered and the waters swirled badly
because of the confluence. This problem was finally overcome when a
bridge was finished high above the creek in 1911,

Town incorporation was also being pushed in the late 1890s as a
result of the work of the Dawes Commission. Fighting had arisen over
the city limits of many towns along the railroad and near the coal
fields, so a Judge Clayton of the United States District Court at South
McAlester urged all the towns in the Choctaw Nation to file petitions
of incorporation, '"to prevent any future misunderstandings and inter-
minable litigations that has burdened other towns and courts". The
petition for incorporation was te be accompanied by a correct and ab-
solutely accurate map, showing all streets, alleys, b%ocks, and lots.
The map was to be the guide for all time to purchasers and owners of
property.

According to directions, the Canadian City Council called in sur=
veyors and had city limits drawn for the town. For this purpose, the
town incorporated 197.5 acres as the townsite, plus an additional 147.5
acres for a total incorporated area of 345 acres. The survey was con-
cluded November 14, 1900, and accepted by the Department of the In-

terior on January 8, 1901.25 Though Canadian was now an incorporated

town, confusion remained over its name, South Canadian or Canadian,
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since it appeared both ways on the petition. Many official state maps
of older vintage still refer to the town as South Canadian, some with
the South marked through. Until recently, an exit sign on U.S. Highway
69 designated the Canadian exits as, State Highway 113, South Canadian,
and Indianola. To correspond with the new incorporated city, the town
determined to drop the '"South" of South Canadian. This was done on the
incorporation petition and with the United States postal system, and the
name became official December 11, 1899, James F. Mitchell, who also ran
a feed store, was serving as Canadian's postmaster at the time. A few
years later, Postmaster Mitchell was accused of taking approximately
$300.00 from the Post Office till to make a business deal in McAlester.
One story has it that Mitchell made a note of his using the money in his
record books and promptly returned the balance but his act became known
to certain elements of the town who were unfriendly to him and charges
were filed against him in Federal court. Found guilty, he was sent to
the Federal penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. Old timers in Canadian
still disagree as to the guilt in Mitchell's case.2

Canadian was pressing ahead as the 19th century prepared to close
and though the town was progressing it had managed to remain socially
stable, as no major crimes or city disasters had taken place in the
last five years. Despite the advantages that neighboring McAlester was
continually offering, Canadian had managed, through its excellent busi-
ness houses and practices, to grow and prosper. What the new century
might hold was eagerly awaited. New programs for expansion of the town
and its businesses were already being planned by Canadian's leading

citizens.
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CHAPTER IX
CANADIAN'S FINEST DAYS

The turn of the century was greeted in Canadian with mixed emo-
tions. The fall of 1899 had brought a failure in the cotton crop. It
was reportedly the worse failure in fourteen years. Bottom land was ex-
pected to produce only between 300 and 500 pounds per acre and higher
ground crops were complete failures. Most of the farmers turned their
stock in on their fields rather than try to gather the small and scat-
tered bolls.1 Without cotton to sell the Canadian farmers could not buy
and the trading houses could not sell their goods, so most of the resi-
dents of Canadian celebrated Christmas and New Year's quietly and simply.
Canadian had suffered a hard blow but not a knockout.

The ever growing coal business in the McAlester and Krebs district
was continually drawing away Canadian's laborers and a few of the busi-
nesses. The Toole Brothers, who had been so prominent in Canadian, be-
gan setting up operations in McAlester and in a few years would move
there entirely. But fortunately, as these people left, others came.

Many of present-day Canadian's fathers and grandfathers settled in the
area around this time. The Georges, McNallys, Murdaughs, Hallums, and
Connors moved into the country east of Canadian and came to own thousands
of acres of land by the time of statehood. Many of their descendants
still live in or around Canadian.

Two George brothers, Nin and Flem, moved to the area from Wolf
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City, Texas, in 1901. Through hard work and the help of the Murdaughs
and McNallys, who were mixed blood citizens of the Choctaw Nation, they
began acquiring large land holdings in the wild, rough hills east of
town. By the 1920s, the George ranch contained over five thousand

acres and the champion breed of trotting horses which they raised were
nationally known and highly prized. Orlando George moved into town from
the George ranch in 1926 and became the Canadian postmaster until his
death in 1964. His wife, Estella George, was appointed postmaster in
1966 and retains that post to the present time.

Other new settlers in Canadian were the Connors. John P. Connors
moved his family to Canadian from St. Louis, Missouri, to establish a
law practice and to farm. Mr. Connors soon came to be Judge Connors and
was widely known as an excellent "agriculturist'. In 1907, Judge Con-
nors was. appointed the first Chairman of the State Board of Agriculture.
Connors State College in Warner, Oklahoma, is named in his honor. Some
years later his son, Mike, was appointed head of the Oklahoma Tax Com-
mission by Governor Alfalfa Bill Murray and continued in that office
until his death in 1974. The Connors Building in the State Capitol
Complex is also named in honor of the Connors.

Canadian'é population began to slide in the early 1900s, but the
town businesses continued to build new brick stores and local residents
constructed several large and impressive homes. 1In anticipation of
statehood, the Federal government conducted a census of the Twin Terri-
tories in 1900. In the list of minor subdivisions, the town of Canadian
was listed with a population of 522. 1In 1907 another census was taken,
and Canadian was listed with only 401, a decline of 121 persons in only

seven years.
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One of the major reasons for this decline was. the building of a
town just four miles from Canadian, Crowder. Crowder was founded around
the railroad tracks as the Fort Smith and Western built a line toward
Shawnee and across the M.K, & T. in 1902. The first General Merchandise
business opened in Crowder was operated by a Canadian man and the first
purchase, of ten cents worth of Star Tobacco, was by Canadian's editor,
James Tignor. Advertisements appearing in Crowder's first newspaper
show most of the businesses owned or ran by ex-Canadian residents. Many
of the smaller homes of Crowder were moved there from Canadian on double

5
wagons drawn by mule teams. For several years, Crowder continued to
grow at the expense of Canadian.

In an effort to stem the flow out of Canadian and possibly to at-
tract new business, Editor Tignor began publishing articles promoting
Canadian. One such "Booster'" appeared in the Advertiser for March 1,
1901.

Canadian: Canadian has a population of 700; nine general

stores, three drug .stores, one bank, two hotels, and

several restaurants, four cotton gins which gin over

5,000 bales each season; the M.K, & T. R,R., American

Express Co., and telephone connection with the outside

world; a city of churches, schools and lodges; natural

resources in coal, timber, stone and water; the best

farming country surrounding it to be found in the ter=

ritory.

Tignor went on to describe the citizens as, ''people full of energy, snap

and ambition; a most hospitable people, a city live and growing, repre-
. . , 6

senting a trading population of 50,000'".

In the paper of the same date, there also appeared a report that
the various soliciting companies representing the Fort Smith and Western

were going to be in town. Tignor pointed out that it was up to the

-people and businessmen of the community to convince them to locate the
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line nearer to Canadian. Eventually, the line passed three and a half
miles south-southwest of town. A coaling and water stop wére located
on the east side of the Indianola Road, present State Highway 113.
Though this was not a regular station, the train could be boarded from
there. The coke and burned coal emptied at this stop still scars the
ground so that nothing grows in that spot. As it turned out, the

F.S, & W. did not decide the fate of Canadian as the article feared, for
Crowder failed to become the great shipping depot it was hoped for and
soon ceased to grow and began to decline. The Fort Smith and Western
line did not pay off and by 1940, the tracks, rails, ties and bridges
were pulled up and used elsewhere.,

Canadian's pace of development continued somewhat subdued for
several years, but by 1907, Canadian was again making progressive moves.
The population of 1907 was down from what it had been in 1900, but in
only three years, by 1910, the population grew from 401 to 48l. Neigh-
boring Crowder had realized a loss of 53 citizens, and Indianola, nine
miles away, witnessed an increase from 307 in 1907 to a-1910 figure of
481 to equal Canadian.7 Indianola's growth was due to the building of
a large wagon and carriage factory in the town.

Major improvements and ventures were launched from Canadian in the
statehood year. One of the new additions to the town was that of a new

newspaper, The Canadian Enterprise. This press sheet was published and

edited by a B,W, Williams. Williams had moved his press to Canadian
from Indianola. The Enterprise was the highest quality paper to be pub-
lished in Canadian up to its time. Williams maintained a connection of
correspondents on the east and west side of town as well as correspond-

ents in the surrounding communities. Where the earlier newspapers had
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let news items come in to them as they ran their printing service,
Williams covered the region looking for news.

The two most significant additions to Canadian in this year were
the Bank of Canadian and the William L. Belt Trading Company. The bank
was first organized in May of 1906 with a capital stock of $10,000 but
quickly grew in 1907 to a bank of $25,000. The Canadian Bank was one of
a chain of sixteen banks. M. C. Young of Canadian acted as the local
bank's vice-president and W. A, Fogil was its first cashier. At the
end of its first year in business, its deposits had increased fifty per-
cent and a dividend of fifteen percent was declared. The bank also
featured a burglar-proof safe, fire-safe vault, insurance against rob-
bery, and all of its officers were highly bonded.8

Belt had come to Canadian nine years earlier as the manager of the
Racket Shop, but had soon begun his own moderate mercantile busiﬁes;.
In. 1907, he was reputed to be doing $100,000 worth of business annually
in the largest single-story, wooden building in Indian Territory. On
July 5th of that year, six car loads of bricks arrived in Canadian for
Belt to begin the construction of a new eighty by one hundred foot, one-
story masonry building. This was the first brick building on the west
business side. It would not be until 1912 that the entire block was
ﬁade up of brick buildings. The Belt Trading Company was easily the
most impressive business house in Canadian. Belt's enormous supply of
stock was delivered in six to ten boxcar loads at a time. Every item
carried by a furniture, hardware, clothing, farm equipment, and toy
store were to be found in Belt's. As many as thirteen clerks worked the
floor at a time.

By 1907, Canadian had lost one of its churches and gained another.



92

The Methodists were now under the leadership of Reverend W, H. Long,
while the Baptists were still served by Reverend L. F, Patterson, but
the Canadian Christian Church had disappeared. The new church was one
constructed by the Negro residents of Canadian, in the north part of
town. The Reverend Mr. Long was the only resident pastor in Canadian.
He spent the first and third Sundays of each month at the Methodist
Churches in Indianola and Crowder, and at this time, was busily engaged
in building a church house at Crowder.

Two other social organizations had been added to those of the
Masons and Odd Fellows by 1907. These were the Farmers Union Local 148;
head officers being George Moncrief and G, W. Walker, and that of the
Rebekans, Canadian Lodge Number 8, Mrs. Ben Turner and Mrs. W. P.
Lewallen, head officers. Other important organizations were those of
the Canadian Board of Trade composed of President J, G, Smith and Secre-
tary G, E, Janeway, plus all the leading town businessmen, the Canadian
Commercial Club, and the Daughters of the Confederacy. City officials
for the year were: Virgil A, Pipkins--Mayor, J. D. Browder--Recorder,
M. A, Murdaugh--Marshall, W. L. Belt=--Treasurer, and J. G, Smith-=-City
Attorney. The city Aldermen were Fred Hurlbutt, G, E. Richardson, W. A,
Byars, G, T, Grinstead, and W, A, Foyil.

Several new businesses were begun in Canadian during the edtly years
of statehood. The Oklahoma Hardwood Lumber and Handle Company was oper-
ating a $10,000 saw mill on Gaines Creek, producing up to 30,000 board
feet of lumber a day. Another smaller saw mill, owned by G, T. Smily,
was operating on Mill Creek where it met the Canadian. 1In 1908, this
mill was sold to the Houston and Richardson Lumber Yard in Canadian.

The lumber yard had moved into Canadian just prior to statehood.
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Medical services in Canadian had dwindled from seven to two prac-
tioners by 1907. These were Doctor W. P. Lewallen, a General Practi=-
tioner and Doctor J., L. Wood, a resident of one year, a physician and
surgeon. In association with the medical practices, three drug stores
were located inside the city. These were the Ewing Drug Company, Ca=-
nadian Drug, and the Fulton Drug Store. The speciality of the Fulton
Drug Store was advertised as having the '""finest soda Fountain facilities
in Indian Territory". Con Ewing, owner of Ewing Drug was only twenty=-
five years old, when in August of 1907, it was reported that he mis-
takenly drank a glass full of carbolic acid. Immediately discovering
his mistake, he jumped on his horse and rode to the home of Dr. Wood,
but despite his skill and medical efforts, in a few minutes Ewing had
breathed his last.11

Like business, crime was also on the increase in Canadian and the
local newspapers were dotted with reports of break-ins, burglaries,
brawls, and late night carousing. The local marshall was Marcus C. Mur~-
daugh, who also operated the largest livery stable in town, and whenever
the marshall arrested someone, the editor of the paper invariably re=
ferred to that person as being '""lodged in the Calaboose''. Parties ar=-
rested on city ordinances were brought before either the mayor or Jus-
tice of the Peace. A sample of Canadian's justice can be seen from the
following. Five men chafged for disturbing the peace and another group
of prominent men arrested for gambling were fined only five dollars each.
The fine for not cutting weeds on one's property was twenty-five dollars.
The peace of the town was disturbed frequently, but Canadian's weeds were
always cut.

In the summer months before 1907 election campaigns began in
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earnest, to fill the multitude of new staté offices, Canadian played host
to numerous office seekers and politicians plus a great assortment of
other diverse groups. During the week of June 22, William Jennings
Bryan, ''that great apostle of modern democracy', and frequent candidate
for the presidency, passed through Canadian on a northbound passenger
train. At the brief stop, he was greeted by a small crowd on the sta-
tion boardwalk and many a school boy had a tale to tell when school re=-
sumed in the fall. That same week, a compény of horse traders came into
town. The paper reported they went away quickly '"after not doing so
well, as we are pretty good horse traders ourselves'. To add further
color to this parade of travelers, '"a gang'" of gypsies camped on the
outskirts of town. They, too, did not fare so well when two of their
number were arrested for ''plying the trade of fortune telling without a
license', required by city ordinance.

During June and July, Canadian Democrats and Republicans met to
elect delegates to the county conventions. The local Democrats elected
Judge Connors, John O. Toole, J. D. Fulton and M. W, Priddy as their
delegates while the Republicans sent Mayor Pipkins, W, B, Manners, L. D,
Burton, S. N, Bradshaw, J..J. Thompson, and L. W, Tate. Judge Connors
was chosen by the county delegates to represent them in the State Con-
vention meeting in Oklahoma City. The Democratic primary held in Ca-
nadian showed a total of 210 votes cast for the various candidates for
U. S. Senators, and the vote for Oklahoma's first Governor stood thirty-
four for Lee Cruce and seventy-five for Charles N. Haskell. 1In the
» final September elections, there were a total of 213 votes cast. The
gubinatorial vote stood, 103 for Haskell, 10l for Frank Frankz, and &

for C., C. Ross, the Socialist candidate. There were 124 votes in favor
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of accepting the new State Constitution and 82 against. The vote on the
prohibition amendment was divided 94 pro and 99 con. Other results re=-
ported at this time were those of a special census of the soon to be
new state. Indian Territory listed 689,967 inhabitants to Oklahoma's
718,766. Pittsburg county had a total population of 37,677, making it
the third largest in the state, behind the counties of Oklahoma and
Pottawatomie.13 On November 22, the local paper carried the headlines,
"Oklahoma's A State - Ceremony at Capitol was very simple'", For two
months, the Enterprise had been publishing the text of the new Consti-
tution with editorials explaining certain articles. In Canadian, the
passing away of the Indian Territory was mourned by few, but the dis-
tinction of having become the 46th state also brought out little
emotion.

The highlight of the local news for 1907 centered around a con=
troversy over rights to one of the public water wells and on a large
picnic to mark the anniversary of the Canadian Civil War Battle and
Confederate Soldier's Reunion. The controversy over the well arose when
the city council gave exclusive rights to the public well on Johnston
Street to two of their own number, Will Belt and J. D, Browder, plus
Doctor Lewallen, J. D, Fulton, and J. B, Dixon, a local blacksmith.

The new city law gave the well outright to these men and banned others
from its use. A few nights later these men met and formed themselves
into the Canadian Water Works. Another meeting of the City Council
authorized the Water Works to begin laying pipe and charge any amount
they wished for service. As it turned out, only the members' homes were
connected to the Works, which had been constructed during a dry period.

A
The Canadian Civil War Battle was supposed to have taken place
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August 22, 1862, and an annual reunion of ex-Confederates was held on
August 23 of each year at McAlester. Canadian '"0ld Settlers'" and Gon-
federates met on August 15 of 1907 for their reunion and picnic. On
this particular occasion, eight "beeves'" and a couple of pigs were
barbequed and fried chicken was served by the hundred parts.

The new year of 1908 opened in Canadian with business changes.
The Belt Trading Company was opening a mill on the west side of town to
begin grinding corn. The sawmill on Gaines Creek, which had been forced
to close in October for defaulting on a $300,000 loan was reopening un-
der new ownership. The Canadian Board of Trade was opening a new ferry
it had taken a charter on across the creek, and the members of the Bap-
tist Church moved into their new building. It featured stained glass
windows and a large bell tower. A "Brother Caves'", a local resident,
preached the dedicatory sermon on January 17th.14

Some worthy news items for 1908 included the report by the Board of
Equalization that the taxable valuation of property in Canadian's in-
corporated limits stood at $104,486.00 for the year 1907. One hundred
bales of cotton were still being stored in the new Farmers Union ware-
house awaiting a better price, and the Canadian Gin was still opening
occasionally to finish the last remnants of the cotton from the preced-
ing year. There was a spread of "light smallpox'" nearing the Canadian
area, and for the first time, Negro residents in Canadian‘were mentioned
in press releases. In February, a separate waiting room was added to
the depot for Negro residents, in accordance with the State's Jim Crow
(segregation) law, and in March, an article appeared about the opening
of "their school" with a Miss Lucas as teacher. There have been three

"Colored Schools' at Canadian, two stone ones are still standing in fair
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condition. Each of these were large, one room structures and were aided
with city money before statehood. There was also one Negro owned busi-
ness on Canadian's west side around this period.

A new development which came to Canadian in 1908 was its division
into wards as authorized by a new state law. In a special City Council
meeting to which the citizens were invited, the town was divided into
four wards. Ward number One was to include all that part of town west
of the M.K. & T.; Ward Two included that part east of the railroad and
south of Cheadle Street; Ward Three included that part north of Cheadle
Street and east of Belt Avenue, while the Fourth Ward included all that
part north of Cheadle Street and east of the tracks to Belt Avenue.
According to the new law, the city council was to be composed of one
trustee from each ward. This called for new city elections, which took
place May 4. Successful candidates were: Justice of the Peace--C,E,
Janeway, Clerk--J.,D, Browder, Treasurer--W,L, Belt, Marshal--Dave Haley,
City Attorney--J.B, Loggins, Ward 1 Trustee--Tom Manners, Ward 2--M.W,
Priddy, Ward 3--A,F.H. DelLespinasse, and Ward 4--Carter Grinstead.16

The final bit of news from Canadian in this year was the unfortu-
nate end of the local newspaper. On April 24, the editor announced he
had gone to Indianola in an attempt to secure more advertising revenue
as the local merchants had ceased giving him enough patronage to meet
his $75.00 a month budget to print the paper and live in Canadian. The
May 1 issue declared the paper was moving back to Indianola after the
May 8 issue. Subscribers could get their money back or receive the
paper from Indianola where it could carry a Canadian column. The reason
for Williams' leaving or suffering lack of patronage may have been due

to problems of his own making for within a year's time, J. D, Tignor had
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returned from Crowder and began publishing again. The paper was called

the Canadian Valley News. 1t was much improved over Tignor's last paper

and showed a marked professionalism over Williams' Enterprise.

News for Canadian in 1909 is rare because of the lack of a lecal
newspaper, but it is known that a new business located in the town that
year. This was the Farmers Trading Company. It occupied a large spa-
cious building and was the resﬁlt of a combination of several local
prominent farmers and businessmen., About the same time, the Canadian
Trading Company, itself only a couple of years old, built a new store
of comparable size to that of Belts and did business on the northwest
corner of West Main Street and Toole Avenue, adjacent to the Canadian
Gin property, owned by the same people. This was an especially fanéy
store for the Canadian region, and few establishments in McAlester could
best it in appearances and line of stock. The store had a bank-type
vault to hold the large amount of cash brought in by the store and paid
out by the gin. In later years, the Trading Company was bought out by
two young men who ran businesses on East Main Street, Elec Grossman and
Joe Brown, who combined to create the Grossman-Brown Department Store.
This was the last large store to close in Canadian, It did so around
1935 when trade from the local area could no longer sustain a store of
its size. Canadian's oldest resident, Mr. Walter Salmon, stated he
bought a small garden pIOW‘from the Canadian Trading Company.in 1909;
the plow has since made fifty-four garden crops, and though he no longer
uses it, he claims it is still a good plow.17

The year 1910 was an especially active year for Canadién. The year
began with great success and high hopes but ended with a fiery tragedy.

In early 1909 prominent citizens had begun agitating for the building of
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a high school. The old four-roém structure built in 1896 had been
crowded with the standard eight grades plus two primary classes. Late
in the year the school board, composed of Doctor W,P. Lewallen, Judge
Charles E. Janeway, and Professor M.C. Young, began the laborous task
of supervising the planning and building of a structure suitable in
size for progressive expansion and suitable to the people. Their suc-
cess and hard work was evident when in early January, 1910, a large and
magnificant two-story brick and stone schopl building was opened to
spring classes. The school house had’eight classrooms, a full basement,
and a storage attic. The first floor featured a large auditorium with
a second floor balcony and an elegant library room. It was fully
"heated, lighted and ventilated according to modern methods and cost
$18,000". At the opening of its fall semester, the school had an en-
rollment of 150.18 Even before the new school had been constructed,
pupils from other towns had come to Canadian for their education and it
was believed that the new school would attract as many as twenty fami-
lies to the area within the year. Hopes were high for the progress Ca-
nadian had made and would continue to make. The local newspaper re-
ported,

Since the building of our school new life and energy

has been infused into our people, and better business

houses are being built, and fine and up-to-date resi-

dences are to be seen in every hand. Over $50,000 will

be put into new houses and businesses by January 1,

1912, We confidently expect to double our population

in 5 years.
The paper's estimate of $50,000 being pumped into Canadian in the next
year was to be proved correct, but the confidence expressed about doub--

ling the population was not. In fact, just the opposite was to happen.

To coincide with the rejoicing over the new school, there was also
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a period of mourning. Between Christmas day 1909 and New Year's Day
1910, a fire completely destroyed the block of businesses on East Main
Street. Most of these buildings were wooden frame and were swept away.
in a matter of a few hours. The concentrated efforts of the townspeople
had failed to save even onevBuilding. Only the walls of one stone build~
ing reﬁained after the fire. It took several months for cleaning oper-
ations to be completed and for new structures to be erected. These new
businesses were not as large as the ones before them, and due to the
lapse in time of their reopening, many of their patfons had taken their
accounts across the tracks to West Main.

Three years earlier, Canadian had embarked upon a campaign to im--
prove the town. The result héd been the replacing of wooden buildings
by brick ones and the construction of several magnificant homes. In
1910, the push for a "city beautiful' was again renewed. The results
of this effort were even more successful. Several more of the elegant
hoﬁes which still grace Canadian were put under planning or construc-
tion. The largest was that of J. D. Fulton, which was to set at the
southwest corner of Cheadle Street and Belt Avenue. This residence is
now. the home of Mrs, Bill Connoré, daughter-in-law of Judge Connors, and
remains a credit to the town, as do several other of the homes of this
period. The need for more houses was a problem in these early years, as
it is today in Canadian. The newspaper featured numerous editorials and
"want ads'' declaring the need fqr more homes. In character with Ca-
nadian's typical commercialism, the’paper reasoned the construction of
new homes "would be a good investment for some of (the) monied men in
town'',

Further town improvements included a move to lay ''good concrete"
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sidewalks on the principal streets and in front of the residential
blocks, that ‘could afford to pay for the construction. Another noble
community betterment project was the attempt to erect a hospital at Ca-
nadian. Local groups, "determined to build a hospital and work on it
with a determination that (would) not subside short of success'. The
idea was to begin a hospital of moderate size and staff it with Ca-
nadian's two resident doctors, W. P. Lewallen and John L. Wood, plus
physicians from the outlying communities of Crowder and Indianola. Un=-
fortunately, not enough support was secured and the plan fell by the
wayside. Similar community improvement projects were to meet defeat in
the next few years and when the town no longer offered attractions to
possible newcomers it began to decline. Meanwhile, this one setback
was little noticed in the busy streets of Canadian. Canadian was not
only holding its own against the growing city of McAlester but was also
increasing its population and status,2

One of the highlights of 1910 for Canadian came in November when
the town's most enterprising businessman, Will Belt, arranged to install
an electric power plant to light his "mammoth' store building and '"ele-
gant home'. The Belt home was located on the southeast corner of Belt
Avenue and Johnson Street and his store occupied the middle of the
business block on West Main. As a free public service, Belt also pro-
vided electrical power to the new school. This was the first elecric-
ity brought into Canadian. Public electric service would not serve Ca=
nadian until 1940. Before this time, gas lighting was used in most of
the businesses and several homes.22

Public water works and electric lights remained on Canadian's list

of progressive improvements. The proposal for public water was to build
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a pumping house and filtration plant at Gaines Creek, 'where an un-
limited supply of pure water could be found". It was decided though
that if such an enterprise were possible, the cost would be prohibitive.
Gaines Creek may not have been the right location, but efforts to plan
for another location were entirely lacking and again Canadian failed to
progress. A-serious pattern of gradual decline was being established.
The bond issues necessary to support community advancement were con=

. . 23
sistently being voted down.

Though Canadian failed in some of its advancement moves, there were
still those persons who chose to support it. One of these people was a
local artist, photographer and poet, Miss Esther Smith. Besides opera-
ting the town's only photo studio, Miss Smith often wrote poems, many
of them appearing in the local paper. One of these poems was a '"booster"
for Canadian, describing the various businesses and enterprises in Ca-
nadian and was entitled, ''Hustling, Bustling Canadian'". A few of the
stanzas included:

We are proud of our little city
With just reason too,
For we're on the old 'Katy'
Daily trains not a few.
We also have two Hotels
Are modern and up-to-date,
For courtesy - Good meals
None better in the State.
Now last but not least
Is our Post Office, Grocery store combined
For things to eat and a square deal
Geo. Newton here you'll find.

As 1910 began drawing to a close, the worse diaster to ever hit

Canadian occurred just two days before Christmas. The headlines of the

News read, "FIRE MAKES A CLEAN SWEEP. Entire wooden block on the west

side goes up in flames'". At 1:30 a.m. December 23, a raging fire
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destroyed the wooden stores on West Main from Toole Avenue to Belt's

new brick store. These buildings consisted of the Odd Fellows building
and Canadian Drug Company, the Catrell Barber Shop, the pool hall, J.G,
Smith Hardware, and two wooden buildings belonging to Belt. It was
theorized that the fire started in either the pool hall or barber shop.25

Though fifty percent of Canadian's businesses were out of operation
for several mon;hs, most were able to come back. The ashes had not yet
cooled when the plan was formalized to erect the entire block in brick
buildingé in place of the old ones. This venture was led by Will Belt,
Smith Hardware, the 0Odd Fellows and the Bank of Canadian. In the new
block the Bank would occupy the first floor ofvé new building on the
corner while the Odd Fellows would retain the second story. The Ca=-
nadian Drug Company was now replaced by the Bender Drug Company.

Once again the town had suffered a major set back, but again the
businessmen pushed forward. In April of 1911, the Bank of Canadian re-
ceived a national charter and its capital stock was increased $15,000.
Other good news for the year was to be found in the achievements of
individual citizens. When the new school had been completed in 1910, a
new Superintendent had also been hired. This was Professor David L. Roe,
former resident and teacher in Missouri. It was his distinction to be
issued U.S, Patent No. 990,010 on April 18, 1911, on a multipurpose
livestock gate-opener. The gate could be made to open for large live-
stock and vehicles or only for small livestock.26 Another individual

that distinguished herself was Miss Ruth Burtt. The Canadian Valley News

reported she was the first woman in Oklahoma to secure a copyright on a
song. The song composed by Miss Burtt was entitled '"Independence Day",

and the newspaper was selling copies of the song for twenty-five cents.



106

While several individuals were gaining great accomplishments in
1911, Canadian was again losing out. Though unseen by the citizens at
the time, Canadian's fate was being determined, and its progress halted.
On May 5, an editorial announced a new bond proposal for bringing water
and electricity to the town. The editorial stated: "A good water sup-
ply will bring manufacturing establishments to our town . . . it will
increase the value of all town property'. It was further editorialized
that if Canadian failed to pass this badly needed bond, the community
could no longer compete with McAlester and Eufaula, which were quickly
modernizing. The vote on the bond issue was held on July 11, and the
beginning decline of Canadian was: the result of the '"'no" vote ma-
jority.28

The local businessmen had worked hard to pass the bond issue. They
had invested large amounts of capital into construction and the general
building up of Canadian. Their new brick block on the west side was
already under construction. All they could do was hope the "improve-
ment'" bond issues would receive a favorable vote next year, for without
these essential public services, water and electricity, the Canadian
business community could not survive. Each year McAlester and Eufaula
were drawing away new business, industry and citizens that could have
been Canadians had it offefed the same modern conveniences.

By 1913 Canadian was truly in eclipse. The business section had
rebuilt after the fire but patronage had begun to drop, and several of
the establishments changed hands. The smaller businesses on East Main
Street found it increasingly difficult to‘survive and closed. Canadian's

business section was reduced by a half. The Canadian Valley News also

found it unprofitable in Canadian and Tignor moved to McAlester. Another
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paper, the Pittsburg County Leader began publication but could hold out

only until 1914, when it folded, leavipg Canadian without a newspaper.
Because of a $35,000 embezzlement in 1919 the Bank of Canadian was forced
to close. The 1910s had brought a recession in the economy and falling
farm prices left Canadian farmers and trading houses badly hurt. Ca-
nadian's population had also begun to fall at an alarming rate. The
rate of decline from 1900 to 1930 was approximately one quarter each ten
year period. The population in 1900 had stood at 522 and the population
in 1930 was only 295.29

Canadian's growth had been slow but its decline in stature was much
quicker. Much to its credit the town had been born in bad economic times
"in the 1870s and survived but the changing economy of the State and the
Nation, plus a complicated business recession of the 1910s was more than
"the little town could ﬂold out against. Fortunately a decline in Ca-
nadian did not spell its end, for the town has been able to continue on,
but only as another one of the hundreds of small towns spread across

Oklahoma,
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CHAPTER X
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Though the community of Canadian, Oklahoma, has been of no major
significance to the Nation, portions of the surrounding area have
Afigured significantly as landmarks to early explorers and pioneers.

The Gaines Creek-Canadian River confluence has played host to many of
these trail-blazers as a convenient camping site. La Harpe and Long
both used the site as a camp ground and entered interesting and signifi-
cant reports into their journals at this point. One of the early Choc-
taw Nation settlements was located only three miles from present day
Canadian. Marcy's California Route and the Texas Road which pass near
Canadian, have figured most prominently in American history.

In the Post-Civil War era Canadian gained importance as the Katy
Railroad made it a temporary southern terminus. During the period of
outlawlessness which covered this time Canadian had at its beginning
been known as an outlaw town. As the iron rails moved on, Canadian
quickly changed from roughs making money with a gun to establishing it-
self as the commercial center of the region.

For many years Canadian continued its steady progress and display
of city pride and hopefulness. Finally, and mostly by its own doing,
Canadian began to décline. In a sense, that decline came as a result
of popular democracy. The voters of the town had decried their town's

future by failing to support the various bond issues that could have
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made Canadian competitive with other towns for commercial interest.

Other factors also contributed to Canadian's fall. Fire and de-
pression were chief among them. In a two year period the entire busi=-
ness section of town had been burned to the ground and only one-half of
those businesses were secure enough to rebuild, The depression of the
early 1890s had stunted Canadian's growth as did the recession follow-
ing the end of World War I, and the ''crash of 1929" sealed its fate.

The "Great Depression'' closed all but two of the Canadian cotton gins,
The larger business houses remained open until the early 1930s but con-
ducted only a fraction of the business they had formerly handled. 1In
1938 the school building Canadian residents had been so proud of met the
fate of fire as had so many other local structures. All these events
served to bring decline to Canadian but the chief reason for its descent
has to be found in the lack of general community support for civil
betterment; apathy on the part of Canadian's own people was the major
cause for the failure of Canadian.

Canadian today experiences many of these same tendencies. Com-
munity projects are carried out slowly and often with considerable op-
position but in the last fifteen years Canadian has witnessed a small
increase in population. Several new enterprises have come into Ca-
nadian only to leave shortly when they too failed to gain general sup-
port. Because of the town's proximity to Lake Eufaula and Arrowhead
State Lodge, it has potential.. As yet that potential has only been
scratched. It will be interesting to note Canadian's situation in an-
other fifteen years, for if a concerted effort to progress is not made
within that time, Canadian's potentiality will be taken over by neighbor-

ing towns and cities, and Canadian will have no chance of reclaiming its

past status as a regional leader.
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